UCLA

UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Feminist Oral Histories Against U.S. Empire: Examining Violence, Resistance and Love Across Three Generations of Vietnamese American Women

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1gt8m5wh

Author

Gabato, Trinity

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Feminist Oral Histories Against U.S. Empire: Examining Violence,
Resistance and Love Across Three Generations of Vietnamese
American Women

A thesis submitted for satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Master of Arts in Asian American Studies

by

Trinity Gabato

© Copyright by

Trinity Gabato

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Feminist Oral Histories Against U.S. Empire: Examining Violence,
Resistance and Love Across Three Generations of Vietnamese

American Women

by

Trinity Gabato

Master of Arts in Asian American Studies University of California, Los Angeles, 2024 Professor Evyn Lê Espiritu Gandhi, Chair

Thesis Abstract: Using an extended case study of the three generations of Vietnamese

American women, this thesis explores how imperialism and U.S. empire affected the women and mixed-race children produced from bar hostess kinships and marriages in the aftermath of war.

The analysis is anchored in recent scholarship on the Cold War, Critical Refugee Studies, memory, sentimentality, womxn of color feminisms as well as critical mixed-race studies. I argue that intergenerational conversations are an act of resistance and survival that could lead to possible futures of healing by knowing, understanding and labeling the power structures that do

iii

not currently allow the women in my family to exist without having to experience racialized gendered violence, cope with mental illness and live a life that goes beyond surviving. The thesis also highlights the ways in which the multiple generations of women care for each other, find feminist forms of healing, and also create a network of care that goes against the idealized neoliberal capitalist cis-heteropatriarchal nuclear family unit. Overall, by engaging in oral history interviews and employing critical autoethnography, the paper challenges what is constituted as evidence in the academy, displaying the ways in which our lives are shaped by structures of violence that continue to uphold the logics of U.S. Empire, in hopes to shift the current refugee savior narrative that has been echoing in the American consciousness

The thesis of Trinity Gabato is approved.

Kyungwon Hong

Jolie Chea

Evyn Lê Espiritu Gandhi, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles
2024

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my family for allowing me to do this project and supporting me through my educational journey. Although my thesis only has my name on it, my thesis is the accumulation of all of my family members who have loved, cared and trusted me to put their stories on paper. I want to thank my mom, who has always loved me unconditionally and has been there fighting alongside me since I was born. I would like to thank all of my aunts who have provided me with deep care, love and inspired me to be a strong badass woman. I want to also thank my cousin who is my life long best friend and chose to live near me when she was five years old instead of getting a horse. Lastly, I want to thank my grandma, whose ferocious love and laughter has always inspired me to continue living with light. While they are not in this project, I would like to thank my dad and my grandparents who have also always loved me unconditionally and gave me the support to pursue my education. I would also like to thank my partner who has supported me through my educational journey and supported me to pursue my passions every step of the way with honesty and care. While the MA degree only has my name on it, it is truly my family's first graduate degree and I look forward to many to come.

Secondly, I would like to thank my amazing chair, Evyn Lê Espiritu Gandhi, who listened to all of my fears and difficulties with kindness. This thesis would not be possible without Professor Gandhi, who generously supported me through every step of this thesis from reading all of my funding applications, listening to my confusions on a weekly basis and continually providing me with caring feedback. Professor Gandhi went above and beyond with their mentoring and committee chair duties, also providing me with support through the job application process and continually sending me opportunities to continue being in the space of academia. I would also like to thank my incredible committee members, Jolie Chea and Grace

Hong. Professor Chea patiently sat with me to think through my many anxieties, continually provided me with resources to move my research forward and inspired me during our discussions in 200C to pursue this project. Professor Hong kindly reassured me throughout my research, continually providing me with motivating words of support, and listened to my scattered research ideas, pointing me to resources that transformed my thoughts. I would also like to thank the many other faculty in the Asian American and Pacific Islander Studies department, Lee Ann Wang, Valerie Matsumoto, Tritia Toyata, Thu-hương Nguyễn-võ, Keith Camacho, Lucy Mae San Pablo Burns, Min Zhou, Purnima Mankekar, Victor Bascara, and Thuy Vo Dang, who've all provided me with supportive words, their brilliant frameworks of understanding and the space to explore the many possibilities of my research. I would also like to thank Justin Dela Cruz and Wendy Fujinami who both supported me through this journey, always providing me with their kind supportive words and pointing me to resources on campus.

Lastly, I would like to thank my cohort; every single person has inspired me to think critically about my methodology, praxis and myself. I am so grateful to have had the opportunity to be with such brilliant kind scholars for two years and to grow alongside such amazing people. Not only are they amazing scholars, but also truly kind caring people who made me finally feel a part of a community, who made me laugh and smile through the entire two years process. I would also like to thank the many scholars, community members and individuals who have inspired me to do my research and are continually being imaginative to create anticolonial future worlding.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Literature Review	8
Methods	14
Chapter Outline	18
Chapter 1: My Grandma's Story: Girlhood, Womanhood, Wifehood, Motherhood	22
"Girlhood": Familial and Gender Role Resistance	23
"Wifehood": Good Refugee, Good Wife	33
"Motherhood": The Monstrous Vietnamese Mother	39
"Grandmotherhood": Grandma's Bar, a Site for Patriarchy and Motherhood	46
Chapter 2: Intergenerational Communication: Fragmented Memory, Absent Silence Humorous Unfeeling	and 55
Unfiltered Lived Memories: First-Generation Storytelling	57
PostMemories: Second-Generation Fragments	67
Subsequent Memories: Third-Generation Understandings	76
Chapter 3: Bad(ass) Mothers and Re(sisters): Feminist Rage, Resistance and	
Intergenerational Love	81
"Bad" (ass) Grand/Mothers: Daily Resistance and Carceral Consequences	84
Re(Sisters): Generational Resistance	90
Creating Intergenerational Love and Healing	94
Conclusion	106
Bibliography	109

Introduction

In this house I listen to stories and scavenge for what is useful. I take the fragments with me for when I leave and come back, for when I leave and come back.

From Lan P. Duong's Nothing Follows

My mom sits at the edge of the bed with my grandma's vanity to the left of her. As my grandmother puts on her daily makeup, my ten-year-old mother stares at her, appreciating my grandmother's beauty. My grandpa is in the living room with my aunts teaching them how to punch correctly so they don't break their thumb. He practices high kicks with them, slowly guiding their legs to go up, out, kick. My mom starts playing with her mom's keys as she watches her mom surround her brown eyes with black eyeliner. As my mom fidgets with the keys, she accidentally triggers the pepper spray causing everyone to drop what they're doing to evacuate, running out of the house one by one. My grandma finishes her makeup, slowly putting on her lipstick in the midst of the room filling with pepper spray. She slowly walks out of the house with her makeup intact.

I start with his vignette that my mom continually told me growing up, to create a vision of my family dynamics and to also display the many themes in this chapter such as motherhood, memory, fighting, femininity, and resistance. My grandmother started working as a bar hostess in the midst of the Vietnam War—also known as the American War in Vietnam—at the age of 17 in order to support her family who faced economic turmoil once fleeing to South Vietnam. She continued to work as a bar hostess for about ten years, until she migrated to Virginia in 1971 with spousal sponsorship from an American GI, five years before the end of the war. My grandmother's story is one of the many stories that have been erased from the American master narrative within the larger flow of more than 8,040 Vietnamese women who came to the United

States through marriage (Goedde, Cho). This history of "military romance" (Goedde, Cho) is part of a larger story of how U.S. empire, militarism and imperialism defined women's lives during the Cold War. Notably, the pattern of "Asian war brides" has been normalized in American society due to the great number of American servicemen who married Asian women overseas, especially during the latter half of the 20th century with U.S. military presence in South Korea and Vietnam (Zeiger, Thai).

During the Cold War and thereafter, the U.S. curated a narrative through photographs, archives, and cultural productions in order to display the U.S. 's intervention in Vietnam as both benevolent and humanitarian (Phu, Cho). Although there has been careful orchestration to make these narratives the mainstream memory of the Vietnam War, many authors have challenged U.S. intervention in general during the Cold War. Scholars have critically examined the role of the United States both in Korea and Vietnam, arguing that the Cold War was not in fact cold but instead a hot war, in which there were multitudes of horrific and treacherous impacts (Kwon). The language used to shift the name from Cold War to "Hot War" is important in actualizing and revealing the violence caused by U.S. imperialism. The U.S. imperialist fabricated myth as the liberator of thousands of refugees not only creates feelings of indebtedness but also allows for the perpetuation of further violence in the name of progress (Kim 109). Situating my grandmother's story within a larger Cold War framework is necessary in displaying the ways in which these romantic intimacies caused by U.S. militarism have been shaped by the U.S. working within a broader geopolitical project that was trying to position the United States as a humanitarian savior fighting against the enemy of communism. This narrative also allows the shifting away from a story of military defeat while in conjunction erasing the violence perpetuated.

During the Vietnam War, my grandmother turned to intimate work on military camps in order to economically survive. When the first U.S. troops arrived in Vietnam, a black market was created to fuel the needs of the American war machine. A part of this market was the Saigon bar scene where many young Vietnamese women took part as sex workers, dancers, strippers, and waitresses (Gustafsson). Although there have been studies researching women who engaged in intimate labor during the Vietnam War, we lack substantial documentation, especially regarding the subjectivities of such women during the period (Henriot). Therefore, stories of these women are then silenced by age and time (Cho). "Freedom. Money. Fun. Love: The Warlore of Vietnamese Bargirls" by Mai Lan Gustafsson, one of the sole oral history projects on bargirls' work during the Vietnam War, focuses mainly on Vietnamese women who came from rural village backgrounds and moved to Saigon in order to break away from their arranged marriages during a time when most of the men were at war (Gustafsson). Although this study closely aligns with my own research, it still does not fully capture my grandmother's story, nor does it cover the complexities of the intergenerational impacts of these marriages. Gustafsson's work contends with kinship and community that the women created once in the United States, but it does not inspect how their romantic relationships transform in the United States after Vietnamese women migrate to join their husbands. Authors, musicians, poets, and many other 1.5 and secondgeneration children have been and are currently contending with their parent's lives that were defined, shaped and haunted by war. Like many other Vietnamese scholars in the diaspora, I hope to continue to challenge narratives of U.S. saviorism and humanitarianism by centering Vietnamese American stories and critically engaging with how the U.S. empire continues to affect lives even after the "official" end of war (Espiritu). In order to continue with this trajectory, my research centers the importance of memory, resistance and resentment in the

aftermath of U.S. militarism and gendered violence through the complexities of my family's life histories.

My family's complex life trajectories challenge the notion of linear migration and theories around Vietnamese wave migration, allowing for my family's histories to provide a counter-narrative that further expands the cartography of U.S. empire (Zhou and Gatewood). The French colonial period in Vietnam (1858-1945) and the American War in Vietnam (1945-1975) created more than a century-long duration of colonial and imperial violence and oppression in Vietnam (C. Nguyen). Following the Vietnam War, sociologists like Min Zhou have theorized the different waves of Vietnamese refugee migration. The first wave of 130,000 Vietnamese refugees who came right after 1975 had special provisions to come to the United States (Zhou and Gatewood 118). The second wave of Vietnamese refugees happened at the end of the 1970s where many of them fled by boat, giving them the label "boat people" and the third wave of Vietnamese refugees migrated in the 1980s (Zhou and Gatewood). After the end of the Vietnam War (1975), twenty years of postwar U.S. trade embargo took place, devastating Vietnam's economy and society (Espiritu). Once in the United States, there was mass resistance to Southeast Asian refugees and in 1975 a Harris poll found that 50 percent of Americans wanted Southeast Asians to be excluded (Espiritu).

During the French colonial period and the Vietnam War, my great-grandfather was a general for the French-Vietnamese military. Colonial and imperial forces frequently used Vietnamese intermediaries to build trust with community members and to expand colonial powers (Man). Since my great grandfather had high military ranking during the French colonial period, he had multiple wives and domestic care workers who worked for his families. My grandmother was born in 1945 and is one of the middle sisters of her four sisters. My

grandmother grew up in Hanoi until she was ten years old, when she and her family moved to South Vietnam after French troops were defeated by Viet Minh forces in 1954 (Bankston III and Zhou 4798). Following their flight to South Vietnam, my great-grandfather no longer worked due to the fall of the French troops and his age. In 1965, President Johnson sent the first U.S. troops to Vietnam which then created a black market to fuel the needs of imperialist forces (Bankston III and Zhou, Gustafsson). In order to economically survive during the war, my great-grandmother sold opium on the black market, while my eldest great aunts and my grandmother worked as Vietnamese bar hostesses. Due to her work as a Vietnamese bar hostess, my grandmother shared how she was no longer considered to be desirable by Vietnamese men, so my eldest aunts and my grandmother eventually dated and married American GIs.

My eldest great aunt was the first one to immigrate to the United States in 1967 when she married a U.S. Navy Sailor. The same year, my grandmother had her first child with an American GI at the age of twenty, a decision she made despite objections from her parents and the fact that she was no longer involved with the child's father. This child, my eldest aunt, was born in 1967 in Vietnam and faced harassment and violence for being Amerasian. My grandma's older sister was unable to have children at the time, so she adopted my eldest aunt, who moved to the United States when she was four years old in 1971. Later in the year of 1971, my grandmother then married a different U.S. Navy Sailor, which enabled her to immigrate to the United States. Although she immigrated to the United States the same year as my eldest aunt, my grandmother's husband moved her to Nebraska which was still far away from her first child, who was in Virginia. She lived with her first husband for a few months, but they got a divorce in Nevada shortly after she immigrated.

My grandfather was born in 1935 in Inglewood, California and grew up predominantly in Monterey Park. He eventually graduated from Cal Poly San Luis Obispo in 1959, where he studied mechanical engineering. In 1968, he moved to Vietnam, where he worked as an engineer. Following the birth of her first child, my grandma met my grandfather in Vietnam at the bar the same year he moved. They lived together in Vietnam for about a year until he had to leave since his engineering contract was over. My grandfather said he would come back for her but did not get another contract in Vietnam. After my grandma's divorce she tried to find my grandfather. After searching the yellow pages, she found his home number, allowing her to call his childhood home. My grandfather's sister answered and told her that he was in Nassau, Bahamas but he would be home soon. Once my grandfather returned to the United States, he and my grandma got married and had three children together. My aunt was born in 1973 in Canada and later settled in the Bay Area where she got married and raised my three cousins. My other aunt was born shortly after in 1975 in Virginia Beach. After having my cousin, she joined the Army, leading her to spend most of her adult life in Texas and Alabama. My mother was born in 1982, the youngest of all her sisters, and grew up predominantly in Virginia. She moved to multiple states in her teens but finally when one of my aunts moved to the Bay Area for the Coast Guard, she brought my mom with her. My mom was fifteen when she moved to San Francisco, where she met my dad in high school and had me at seventeen.

Between 1973 and 1983, my grandmother, grandfather and my aunts moved to multiple countries where my grandfather worked as an engineer for many U.S. corporations. They lived predominantly in Saudi Arabia and Indonesia but for a short time also resided in Canada and Singapore. My grandparents eventually moved back to Virginia since my grandmother's sisters were there. While in Virginia, my grandfather worked for the Naval Shipyard and my

grandmother owned bars close to the Naval base. My grandparents were married for about eleven years until they got divorced; eventually both of my grandparents remarried. My grandmother's current husband is also a U.S. Navy soldier whom she met in her bar around 1990. They eventually got married in 1997 and still reside in Virginia. After the divorce, my grandfather moved to Benton, California where his uncle built a house and worked as an HVAC engineer. My grandfather moved to Alabama in 2013 to be closer to one of his daughters, my aunt, and eventually remarried in 2015.

Through the interweaving of oral history interviews and critical autoethnography, this thesis positions the narrative of my grandmother, who worked as a Vietnamese bar hostess and eventually married an American GI, alongside the stories of my mom, her three sisters and my cousin to examine how communication, resistance and love are handled intergenerationally across three generations of Vietnamese American women. In order to uncover the multiple historical, political and personal complexities that shaped my family's lives, this thesis engages with scholarship, cultural productions and frameworks that accrue from literature on memory of the Cold War, intergenerational communication, Critical Refugee Studies and Womxn of Color feminism to politicize the narratives of Vietnamese American women. I argue that intergenerational conversations are an act of resistance, survival and resilience that could lead to possible futures of healing by knowing, understanding and labeling the power structures that do not currently allow the women in my family to exist without having to experience violence, cope with mental illness and live a life that does not go beyond surviving. By examining intergenerational stories and histories, the thesis reveals the ways in which our lives are continually shaped by ongoing structural and systemic violence that work to uphold logics of U.S. Empire. In handling my own family's history and stories with care, the thesis works to

break away from dichotomous binaries of perpetrator/victim and good/bad refugee, in order to display the complexities of feminist rage, resentment and anger (Espiritu, V. Nguyen, hooks, Lorde). The thesis also highlights the ways in which the multiple generations of women resist, care for each other and also create a network of care that goes against the Western neoliberal capitalist nuclear family unit to center intergenerational love rather than trauma. Lastly, by engaging in oral history interviews and employing critical autoethnography, the thesis also challenges what is constituted as real evidence in the academy in order to argue for the necessity of affect in research (Tuck and Yang).

Literature Review

Currently, there are many works from oral history websites to monographs that engage in preserving memory within the Vietnamese diaspora (Peche et al, Vo). Many of these works are incredibly influential in understanding how memory of the Vietnam War has been constructed and influenced by individuals, the state and many other actors. Of particular significance to me is Quan Tue Tran's term, memoryscapes, which explains how Vietnamese memory is complex, heterogenous and shaped by "overlapping networks of information" (Tran 243). Using this framework on memory, this thesis considers the ways in which my family's memories have been determined not solely by the experiences they are recalling but instead how their remembrance has been sculpted by a multitude of factors such as state narratives, cultural productions, time and age. Therefore, the recounting of memories in my research will not display an absolute truth or factual history but rather display the ways in which memory is constructed, changing and non-unilateral (Hunt and McHale). Not only is memory itself shaped by social factors, but the way that memories are shared is also subjective and constructed by the way the person emphasizes certain events versus what they leave out or under-emphasize (Hunt and McHale). Engaging with

Yến Lê Espiritu's *Body Counts*, this work also reveals how "post-memories" of the Vietnam War are not only constructed by the second-generation but also by the third generation, displaying how the Vietnam War continues to linger decades after (Espiritu 201).

This thesis also grapples with how intergenerational communication is carried out and handled between family members, to understand the goals of the memories that are told while also inspecting the silences in between (Dalgaard et al., Cai and Lee). In past literature, a main point of contention are the grave pains that silence, organized forgetting and forced amnesia has caused for many Vietnamese refugees and their children (Espiritu, Gandhi, Cai and Lee). Silence and forgetting are tools used by the state and Vietnamese refugees for a variety of reasons. In order to produce a benevolent savior narrative, the U.S. empire has used tactics of forced silence and forgetting. Humanitarian master narratives are then reinforced by cultural productions, memorials and many other sites of remembrance (Yoon). These dominant narratives have served as a way to silence many Vietnamese refugees and cause the second generation to remember the Vietnam War through the lens of the United States being a humanitarian savior in order to maintain current structures of marginalization and oppression. While silence can be used as a tool of violence, some Vietnamese Americans may use it as a way to show love and protect their children from the painful traumatic experiences of war from their pasts (Nguyen, Espiritu). Not only can silence be an act of care, silence can also be used as a tool of resistance (Kim). While this work also contends with silence, my family's intergenerational communication is more aligned with what psychologists have labeled as unfiltered speech, where parents tell stories unexpectedly or a child overhears, making the child then fill in the gaps with their imagination (Dalgaard et al.). To analyze unfiltered speech and the absence of silence, this work centers sentimentality, drawing from Yao's Disaffected: The Cultural Politics of Unfeeling in

Nineteenth-Century America to reveal how unfeeling and affect are shaped by historical processes that shape my own family's histories.

Throughout the thesis, the chapters contend with mainstream narratives about Asian American refugee and immigrant resilience and resistance that usually further perpetuates the capitalist framework of hard work and adaptability (V. Nguyen). Critical Refugee Studies's founding scholar, Yên Lê Espiritu, questions "Good Refugee" narratives, revealing how Vietnamese refugees have been portrayed as passive victims who can only be successful if they assimilate to American capitalist ideals (Espiritu). The chapters take up the ways in which neoliberal capitalist imaginaries can cause interpersonal, structural and systemic violence that keep life only survivable. Asian American women's narratives are also many times aligned with neoliberal white feminist frameworks that can be focused on gaining access to capitalist systems rather than focused on the destruction of oppressive capitalist structures. Two centuries ago, the myth of hypersexualized disease ridden Asian American women was solidified through the banning of Chinese American women with legislation, the 1875 Page Act (Choy). Following World War II, stereotypes of Asian American women portrayed them as domestic and submissive, possibly with the influx of Asian war brides following the war (Ninh). These stereotypes in many forms harm Asian American women from creating expectations which justify racial gendered violence. By examining the racial, gendered and socio-economic violence experienced by the women in my family, this thesis grapples with acts of resentment and resistance as outcomes of these experiences (V. Nguyen).

Foundational studies on motherhood and motherwok, such as *The Second Shift* by Arlie Russell Hochschild, have been influential in feminist scholarship and have allowed for the furthering of feminist movements. While scholarship on white motherhood has been contended

with, there is still a gap in literature uncovering womxn of color feminist visions and critiques on motherhood (Collins). In Vietnamese American studies, motherhood has been explored by second-generation writers like Ocean Vuong, Grace Cho, and Susan Lieu, who speculate and contend with their mother's actions after the Hot War. While there are many cultural productions that contend with these relationships, there are not many qualitative research works that focus on how these Vietnamese women eventually become mothers, how they navigate motherhood, and how these types of marriages affected their children, especially in the lives of adult children after some decades of migration. This work reveals the many complexities of having to engage in romantic relations for survival and how this affects women's and their children's sense of identity, ideas of independence and mental health (Zeiger). Despite the fact that Grace M. Cho's academic monograph, Haunting the Korean Diaspora: Shame, Secrecy, and the Forgotten War and memoir, Tastes Like War both uncover the figure of the yanggongius (Korean word for yankee whore/western princess) while also capturing the intergenerational impact of these marriages, it solely focuses on situating the experience within the Korean War context and does not have direct quotes from her mother (Cho).

Another central focus among scholars working on war marriages has been on the complexities of mixed-race identity and how mixed-race identity is shaped in the aftermath of war (Murphy-Shigematsu). The stigmatization of having mixed-race children in Vietnam did not originate from U.S. military intervention but instead was already being perpetuated by French colonialism. During the French colonial period in Vietnam, mixed-race children were seen as a threat to French imperial rule which justified the removal of mixed-race children. The French cultivated a gendered idea that mixed-race daughters would become promiscuous later and ruin their mother's lives, thus forcing women to abandon their mixed-race daughters (Lessard).

During the Vietnam War, it was extremely stigmatized to have mixed race children with GI soldiers in Vietnam and due to extreme difficulties being a mother during war, many mothers were forced and coerced to give up their children (Sachs, Woo).

The United States was also able to create a savior narrative from the violence that they caused by constructing the mission of Operation Baby Airlift where around 3,000 children were "saved" and taken to the United States, never seeing their mothers again (Sachs, Woo). While there has also been scholarship on the Amerasian Vietnamese adoptees, there has not been many studies on the relationships between children and mothers who stayed together (Yarborough). In order to expand on the current scholarship, this thesis engages the memories of my grandmother to understand her experiences as a mother of mixed-race children and explores how that shaped her daughters' ideas of motherhood. The examination of motherhood in my family ultimately reveals how a century of colonization and imperialism has affected mixed-race children and their mothers' relationships resulting in further familial tensions, alienation and further trauma (Root, Kim-Prieto el al.).

Lastly, this thesis works to unravel the complexities of intergenerational trauma to not only understand the interpersonal causes but also to expose the structural and systemic violence that shape one's mental health (Rubio, Hartmann et al., Cai and Lee). It is important to not only place blame and responsibility on the individual in hopes of a western cure but instead to try to understand trauma from an anticolonial framework that holds liable structural violence that upholds U.S. imperialism and empire (Rubio, Cai and Lee). My grandmother, my mom, all of her sisters and my cousins have all been diagnosed with mental health illnesses such as depression or mood disorders. Major depressive disorder was reported to affect 30.2% of Vietnamese Americans and it is 1.5 times more likely to affect women (Leung et al., Kim-

Prieto). This work uncovers how these mental health diagnoses and community struggles are a product of imperial and gendered violence, displaying how war and violence does not only affect one individual's mental health but has rippling effects across multiple generations even decades after war.

While there has been predominant scholarly research on intergenerational trauma especially in Holocaust studies and in the field of psychology (L. Nguyen, Harkins, Sangalang), there has been less research on intergenerational healing and love. Recent works such as Linh Thuy Nguyen's Displacing Kinship: The Intimacies of Intergenerational Trauma in Vietnamese American Cultural Production contends with the complexities of trauma and possibilities of healing for Vietnamese refugees and the Vietnamese diaspora. Cultural productions like Ocean Vuong's On Earth We're Briefly Gorgeous and Grace Cho's Tastes Like War also explore their own intergenerational familial traumas and forms of healing, but both works unfortunately do not have their own mother's direct perspective or reflections. Elizabeth Rubio's essay "Of Monsters and Mothers" also exposes the complexities of intergenerational healing and the ways in which transformative justice can create space for possibilities of healing (131). Her essay also emphasizes the need for not only structural change but also personal accountability in order to facilitate healing processes. Rubio's powerful essay is predominately autoethnographic, thus we do not get to engage in her mother's perspective or voice around her actions. To expand the work on intergenerational healing and conceive other forms of feminist radical healing, this thesis centers the analytic of love (Cai and Lee). In engagement with Black feminist theories and womxn of color feminisms around love such as works like bell hook's All About Love and Joy James's In Pursuit Of Revolutionary Love, this thesis works to center not only trauma and

healing but also the ways in which cultivating intergenerational love can be a form of political resistance.

Methods

As mentioned above, this thesis interweaves both oral history interviews and engages in critical autoethnography. Oral history interviews have been widely celebrated as a form of bottom-up history that can create community archives as seen in multiple works such as the creation of Viet Stories (Tran, Vo Dang). Oral history methods have also been a technique in providing counter narratives to collective memory and a form of meaning making that may go against mainstream narratives (Crane, Cole). The practice is also rooted in a long tradition of feminist queer BIPOC storytelling and activism that has been used to transform place, time and community (Abrams, Cole). While there is power in conducting oral history interviews, the method has been critiqued for being framed as an egalitarian process that allows for "shared authorship" that gives "voice" to the oppressed subject or community, which occludes the unequal power dynamics and can lead to further exploitation (Kim 1351). While being a family member allows me access to my interviewees, it can also limit the stories and memories that are shared with me since they've seen me grow up, thus they may feel the need to shield me from traumatic memories out of care (Smith 11). By engaging with autoethnography, the thesis further challenges western colonial structures that relegate what constitutes as epistemology (Cho). By using my own family history as a case study to understand the intergenerational impacts of war, it reveals how master narratives around the Vietnam War try to simplify, reduce and leave out certain histories in order to promote the war as a liberal project of freedom (V. Nguyen, L. Nguyen). While my family's history may relate to other people's experiences, it is necessary to recognize the copious complexities within our own histories. Therefore, this thesis does not

promote the notion that my family's history can be projected nor applied to every single Vietnamese war bride narrative.

My methodology also includes in-depth Seidman's semi-structured interviews where I interviewed my maternal family members two times, in 2020 and 2023, for 30 to 40 minutes each time in order to collect different perspectives and stories. Telling these stories can be extremely retraumatizing, thus by spacing out the interviews and making them shorter, this work hopes to not cause further harm to my family. In the Fall of 2020, I started my research in a qualitative methods course led by Professor Hung Cam Thai where I was inspired to center my own family history, realizing that the personal is political. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown regulations, I conducted all of my interviews either on zoom or on the phone. During that time, I conducted interviews with my grandma, grandpa, my mom and all three of my aunts. In order to broker the conversations during the challenging times of the pandemic, my mom was on the call for the interview with my grandma, grandpa and one of my aunts to help me excavate stories and to be a part of a multi-generational conversation. My grandpa and grandma are both in their late 70s and 80s, which made it even more difficult to interview them over the phone. Thus, it was extremely helpful to have my mom with them in-person while I was interviewing them virtually. After the phone calls, my mom explained to me how she heard stories from her parents that she never heard before and it allowed her to gain a deeper understanding of her family. After I finished the short qualitative paper in 2020, my mom called me in tears explaining how she never learned the histories of her mother and how it provided her a new perspective on their relationship. My mom's reaction to the paper has motivated me to continue to continue to do this work and to write, making our histories legible for my family, myself and for future generations.

Due to the initial round of interviews being on zoom in the midst of the pandemic, I decided to complete the research for this thesis in-person. During the summer of 2023, I conducted interviews in-person with the same family members, in addition to my cousin and my great aunt. In order to interview them in-person, I first traveled to Alabama where my grandfather currently lives and then traveled to Virginia where my grandmother, my great aunt and my aunt live. Finally, I traveled to the Bay Area to interview my cousin and my aunt. These different formats—virtual versus in-person—produced different results. During the first round of interviews in 2020, I had my mom on the line to help me conduct interviews with my grandmother and my grandfather. During the pandemic, my mother traveled and stayed with both of my grandparents for some time during my project. Since my grandparents are older, my mom had to work the technology for them to do the interviews virtually. Having my mom on the line to use her stories and memories to help prompt stories from my grandparents produced more expansive and humorous stories. Since my grandparents could not see the recording device and it felt like a phone call to them, the conversation felt more natural and casual. In-person interviews felt more formal, since my grandparents could see the recording device and there was more build up to finding a quiet physical space. My aunt's 2023 interviews and stories were pretty similar to the stories they told in 2020; many times they emphasized the same memories and reiterated the same sentiments. Although the interviews seemed similar, my conversations with my aunts felt more trusting. It seemed like my aunts trusted me more when I interviewed them in 2023 in the way they spoke to me and did not censor their affective responses.

Overall, this project analyzes and examines the transcriptions of fourteen interviews conducted either in 2020 or 2023. While many qualitative works use block transcribed quotes from the respondent without the interviewer's responses and questions, the thesis presents the

interviews in a way that not only allows for the reader to see what has been said but also what has been asked. Therefore, the questions I asked, any comments I made, and any stories I shared in reply are included to not only put the interviewees' words on display but also my own (Kim). The oral history interviews are also not just one-on-one conversations but there are also multigenerational conversations presented that allow for the reader to also see interpersonal intergenerational conversations rather than just a single quote taken from the interview. Therefore, this method will allow the reader to see an intergenerational capturing of memory and communication rather than it being individually isolated. During the oral history process, I also engaged with material culture, using my family's photos as an entry point to create interview questions and utilizing them to broker conversation during the oral history interviews. Family photographs also allow for one to "shift discussions of war and its aftermath, nudging us even further away from familiar spectacles of violence to consider instead daily struggles to survive" (Phu 149). The family photos used throughout the process not only display what has been lost but also the joy, laughter and resilience that present themselves in my family photos. At the end of each chapter, I created a collage of family photos to pay tribute to my grandmother's handmade photo collages that line her home and to further display how our lives are interconnected and collaged together.

By conducting oral history interviews and engaging with critical autoethnography, I hope to challenge what is constituted as evidence or data in the academy, displaying the ways in which our lives are shaped by structures of violence that uphold the U.S. empire in hopes to shift the current savior narrative that has been echoing in the American consciousness. Through this thesis, I work through the multiple instances of racialized gendered violence my maternal family members have faced to reveal how imperialism continues to affect our lives for generations even

after the end of war (Espiritu, V. Nguyen). While I do not wish to cause retraumatization for my family, I hope that having our own family archive of interviews, photos and written memories will allow for the reinstatement of memories that have been stripped from many Vietnamese American families. This thesis emphasizes the importance of our own personal histories and knowledge in hopes to find alternative forms of intergenerational healing that are not offered within the current violent systems that currently shape our lives.

Chapter Outline

The first chapter of the thesis titled "My Grandma's Story: Girlhood, Womanhood, Wifehood, Motherhood" explores the complexities of my grandmother's life, starting from her life as a child in her "girlhood" in Vietnam and having to face the complexities of interpersonal familial abuse, love and navigating war as a child. The narrative then examines my grandmother's experiences as a bar hostess in Vietnam and how she navigated romantic relationships in her "womanhood." Lastly, the chapter ends by revealing how my grandmother's choices in wifehood and motherhood were also shaped by war, trauma and feminist resistance. My grandmother's life history also provides a counternarrative to stories that have been told about Vietnamese bar hostess work and intimate labor on military camps, revealing how women resisted through their labor. The first chapter also complicates the many existing binaries such as victim/perpetrator or good/bad refugee, trying to contend with the multiple complexities of personhood. By examining my family's histories, it reveals the entangled layers of interpersonal and structural violence that shape daily lives and life histories. This thesis is also rooted in other ongoing feminist struggles and consciousness, by providing alternative understandings to motherhood, wifehood, grandmotherhood, sisterhood and daughterhood rooted in the Vietnamese war bride experience. Accordingly, this thesis complicates motherhood and

wifehood by comparing the transnational contexts where my grandmother assumed these roles in Vietnam, Saudi Arabia, Indonesia and the United States. By comparing my grandmother's transnational experiences, the chapter further exposes how motherhood and wifehood in the United States are constructed by cis-heteropatriarchal Anglo-Saxon ideals, ultimately causing intergenerational tensions. This chapter is the first in order to orient the reader to the historical and political context that shapes my maternal family's lives, before moving on to the ways that their memories are constructed and communicated. This chapter offers the reader a base understanding of my grandmother's life, which then allows the reader to better follow the intergenerational narratives of three generations of memory in the second chapter.

The second chapter, "Intergenerational Communication: Fragmented Memory, Absent Silence and Humorous Unfeeling," continues with my grandmother's narrative and works to understand how my aunts and my mom piece together my grandmother's histories. This chapter delves into the ways my family members have navigated and shared memories of love, care and violence. The stories and excerpts in this chapter explore how the absence of silence, or what psychologists have labeled as "unfiltered speech," shapes intergenerational communication and memory between three generations of Vietnamese American women (Dalgaard et al.). While silence has been a clear theme in Asian American studies, my family's stories reveal that while the lack of silence can be a powerful tool for of resistance, it can also cause the normalization of trauma. The normalization and comparing of trauma intergenerationally has led the future generations to understand their own experiences with racialized gendered violence as acceptable. In conversation with Hirsch and Espiritu's concept of second-generation postmemories, the chapter also unveils how the memory of the Vietnam War is not only shaped by my grandmother but also through cultural productions, interpersonal connections to the war and the master

narratives taught in the U.S. South, leading to second-generation and third-generation confusions, misunderstandings and tensions about the historical context that shapes the militarized afterlives that we lead in the United States. This chapter is placed second for the reader to gain an understanding of how the three generations handle, shape and interact with familial memories, allowing the reader to get to know my maternal family members even more before moving on to more vulnerable stories of violence, resentment, and love in the space of so-called "refuge."

The final chapter, "Bad(ass) Mothers and Re(sisters): Feminist Rage, Resistance and Intergenerational Love," uncovers how the women in my family have resisted systems and structures of violence which have led them to face carceral consequences and deviant labeling, furthering the perpetuation of state violence even after the "end" of war (V. Nguyen). This chapter also confronts the intergenerational tensions, understandings and entanglements that are shaped by the shared continued experience of resisting against racialized gendered violence. The promise of supposed refuge and safety in the United States are disillusioned when violence continues despite citizenship, assimilation and neoliberal cis-heteropatriarchal capitalist achievements, causing my family to experience feelings of resentment, anger and rage (V. Nguyen, L. Nguyen). Grounded in Black feminist theory and Womxn of color feminisms, this chapter grapples with my family's stories of resistance, care and love (hooks, Lorde, James). The chapter highlights the alternative forms of care that took place between three generations in the midst of ongoing structures of oppression and violence. Overall, the third chapter argues that the while current systems and structures do not always allow for resistance and healing, my family members have found alternative forms of care and healing that do not always allow one to be fully "healed." While fully healing in a current world that continues to deny our humanity seems

improbable, my family has continued to resist by cultivating their feminist familial forms of healing, care and love (L. Nguyen). While still acknowledging and critiquing broader structures, the chapter decenters intergenerational trauma but instead focuses on intergenerational love as a possible praxis of knowledge and future making. This chapter is placed last to end the thesis on a more positive and hopeful note, in hopes to not cause the reader further harm but instead for them to imagine possible anticolonial futures that are centered on love rather than violence.

While the stories within this thesis are acts of resistance in themselves, the act of retelling these stories further perpetuates my family's resistance, survival and resilience. The continued restating and reuttering of these stories lead to possible futures of radical healing for my family by knowing, understanding and labeling the power structures that do not currently allow us to exist without having to experience gendered violence, cope with mental illness and live a life that goes beyond surviving (Cai and Lee, L. Nguyen). This research is also extremely urgent given the fact that the eldest cohort of women who were Cold War brides are now nearing their eighties (Cho). It is important to continue this research to reveal how U.S. military intervention has shaped lives and the generations that followed. Lastly, this project will be extremely healing for myself and for my family members. Many times, Asian American women's stories are dismissed and pushed aside, but collecting and sharing these stories is immensely important in order to expand the knowledge around the complexities of our lives and our memories, in hopes of anticolonial futures.

Chapter 1: My Grandma's Story: Girlhood, Womanhood, Wifehood, Motherhood

I visited my grandmother this past summer in 2023 for the first time since 2018. Although the five years from 2018 to 2023 may seem like a short period of time, it felt like eternity, filled with so much uncertainty in between due to the Covid-19 pandemic. I missed hearing my grandmother's stern voice as she talked about her life and hearing her laugh voraciously as she made "inappropriate" jokes. The first day I saw my grandmother again, I placed my head on her lap and she petted my hair as she told me about her childhood, marriage and motherhood. As I sat with my head in her lap, she whispered many stories to me in a calm tone about how she didn't like being bossed around. In this short moment of care and comfort, I learned more about how my grandmother thought of herself as a young girl, a teenager, a woman, a wife, and a mother.

This chapter carefully examines the many stages of my grandmother's life in order to reveal how my grandmother's choices were shaped by war, trauma and feminist resistance. The first part of the chapter contends with the complexities of my grandmother's "girlhood" as a young girl in Vietnam in order to reveal how her own familial dynamics have shaped her life choices and understandings. My grandmother's experiences of girlhood also reveal how war shapes gender roles and the family, much like Mai Lan Gustafsson's "Freedom. Money. Fun. Love: The Warlore of Vietnamese Bargirls." The second section of the chapter moves into my grandmother's "womanhood" as a Vietnamese bar hostess navigating intimacies, labor and familial duties. In order to contend with the complexities of my grandmother's work as a bar hostess, this chapter engages with Long T. Bui's *Model Machines: A History of the Asian as Automaton* to consider how my grandmother's narrative disrupts the figure of the Asian woman "sex machine" imagined in Western cultural productions and cold war economies. Throughout

the chapter, the phrase "intimate labor" is used rather than "sex work" because my grandmother explicitly shared how she did not engage in physical cis-heterosexual sexual relations with customers unless she was romantically interested and instead performed various forms of intimate emotional titillations to the customers (Parreñas, Brents and Jackson). The final sections of this chapter engages feminist maternal theory and current cultural productions on Vietnamese refugee motherhood to grapple with my grandmother's feminist resistance in regards to wifehood and motherhood in order to further emphasize how both roles are constructed by cis-heteropatriarchal Anglo-Saxon ideals (O'Reilly, Hallstein, hooks, Collins, Rubio). Overall, this chapter argues for a necessary complication around the concepts of "good" vs "bad" mother, wife and refugee, by engaging with Yến Lê Espiritu scholarship and Vinh Nguyen's *Lived Refuge* to further problematize the figure of the "good refugee" and the affect of gratitude. By examining my grandmother's form of story-telling, the chapter also reveals her own feminist critiques and analysis of ongoing colonial imperial violence, allowing her to challenge and subvert structures that have shaped her own life history.

"Girlhood": Familial and Gender Role Resistance

French colonialism in Vietnam violently took shape starting in 1857 to 1954. The process of colonization included expanding colonial powers by using local Vietnamese intermediaries in the military to further extend control (Man). My great grandpa was a general for the French Vietnamese military during French colonialism in Vietnam, allowing my grandma to grow up wealthy in North Vietnam until the American War in Vietnam started. Before the war started, my great grandfather's high military position and his wealth allowed him to have multiple wives and girlfriends, one being my great-grandma. My grandmother clearly shares how her father had a high-ranking military and class position allowing him to possess power:

Myself: What was it like being with your parents?

My Grandma: Oh, my parents very hard, do what them say, that's the way it is, my father same thing, my mother we live in Hanoi and my father he is Army there, so he know all the big man. We go to house for the Hanoi. I remember 10-year-old, I live there, the police across the street come to our house to protect ... My father, people afraid of him when he go, people say, "Oh that him so don't bother, don't talk about him."

My grandmother's quote displays her first understanding of the world and her acceptance

of familial structures. She shares how her parents were hard on her and how she had to do what they said growing up, which is just "the way it is." Throughout the interview, my grandmother uses the phrase "that it" or "that is the way it is," to display that while life may seem unfair or traumatic within the traditional Western cis-heteropatriarchal familial narrative, she acknowledges her own familial power structures as a simple truth of life.

My grandmother also shares how her parents did not have the time to listen to her or directly parent due to age, war and familial constructions. When her father got too old to work and her mother was away selling opium on the black-market during the war, her sisters had to take care of each other. During the American War in Vietnam, gender and familial roles shifted as men were away at war and many mothers could not provide for their entire family themselves (Gustafsson). My grandma shared how her sisters were in charge of each other and the eldest sister was the one who made the rules of the household. My grandma's family fled South at the start of the Vietnam War leading them to no longer have the wealth or the same political standing. Therefore, in my grandmother's family there was a matriarchal hierarchy due to her father's age and her brothers being soldiers in the war. Her sisters then had to be responsible for parenting while their mother was away and had to find other ways of making money to financially survive. My grandmother shared how her sisters maintained parental power through violent strategies:

My Grandma: My sister, you have to do what the elders tell you what to do, you don't do what your sister says, they beat you up. She put the hot water and burn me. You have to do what your sister say. Same my father hit me, my mother cannot say anything. He the boss, my mother second, he's the boss okay. He not home, my mother boss. She not home, my sister boss. You understand that? You do what your sister say or [she] beat the shit out of you, that the way we grow up. That's it.

My grandma shared how her sister burned her with water as a disciplinary measure if her parents were not home. She then talked about the sequence of hierarchy in the household, explaining "that's just how it is." While my grandmother talks about the trauma and violence that shaped her childhood, she shares her acceptance of their acts as just a part of her life. Through this short phrase my grandmother, rather than villainizing her family, shares how that is just the way that they grew up in a way that positions these violent interpersonal acts as necessary normal actions of survival. My grandmother's family dynamic goes against Western nuclear heteropatriarchal notions of family configurations with my great-grandfather having multiple wives, her mother not being the main caretaker and her sisters being in charge. Although one may see this family dynamic as patriarchal and violent, my grandmother shared this story in a way that embraced her upbringing, an upbringing she was proud to call her own. In my grandma's home she has a huge picture on the wall of my great grandfather and great grandmother. She shared with me, pointing at the photos, the great amount of love and care she had for her parents and sisters.

While not condoning violent acts, my grandmother saw these acts as a part of her childhood, as a part of her family. She shares how her sisters took turns caring for their family and how she had to turn to working at the club to support her family:

My Grandma: Yes, because my sister put me to working, she work in the club so when she marry to her husband, she need me to work in the club to take care of the family.

Myself: And whatever your sisters say you have to do to take care of your family?

My Grandma: You have to, you don't want to, you have to do it. Who takes care of the family? My sister do that for many year, so when she go home [to the United States], who take care of the family? So, I have to lie to them and take people money. So that's it, people, the Navy there, American, them think so they go to club they going to find a woman, not like American here. That the way Navy, Army, them go to club over there, they get drunk and them look for women, that's it.

My grandma shared how her sisters worked to take care of her family and the need to listen to her sisters even if you didn't want to, it was just a part of life. Therefore, in order to take care of her family while also resisting economic oppressive power structures during the war, my grandmother chose to find work in the clubs. Once her eldest sister who worked at the clubs married an American man and immigrated to the United States, the responsibility then fell on my grandmother to continue the labor for the family. The necessity of stepping into the role of primary financial caretaker for her family, a responsibility traditionally designated for males within a cis-heteropatriarchal family construction, illustrates the shifting dynamics of gender roles within Vietnamese families during war. Furthermore, my grandmother's layered quote exposes how American soldiers distanced themselves from the American ideas of protecting white womanhood and went to the clubs to get drunk and engage in intimacies that denied the same respect for personhood. The power imbalances rooted in imperial economic violence permeated not only familial responsibilities but also interpersonal relationships, influencing the dynamics within my grandmother's intimate connections.

"Womanhood": Resisting the Asian Sex Robot Myth and Gendered Violence

My grandmother was one of 8,040 women who married American soldiers to flee the circumstances of war violently escalated by U.S. Empire (Barth). My grandmother's eldest sister

was the first to marry an American Navy Sailor and she moved to the United States in 1967. This was the same year that my grandmother gave birth to my eldest aunt. My grandmother did not stay with my aunt's father for reasons that still remain silenced by my grandmother. In the meantime, my grandmother had a very hard time keeping my eldest aunt safe in Vietnam, since it was incredibly stigmatized to have Amerasian children. My grandmother's sister in the United States adopted my eldest aunt since she and her husband weren't initially able to have children. Eventually, they had their own children, and my grandmother married an American Navy Sailor in 1971, allowing her to take her daughter back and move to Omaha, Nebraska. My grandmother's marriage to the Navy Sailor was not one of imagined Western fairytale romance and intimacy. Instead, her choice of marriage was shaped by complex political, financial and familial expectations due to being in the midst of the Vietnam War. When the first U.S. troops arrived in Vietnam in 1965, a black market was created to fuel the needs of the American war machine. A part of this market was the Saigon bar scene where many young Vietnamese women took part as sex workers, dancers, strippers, and waitresses (Gustafsson). My great grandfather was too old to work during the American War in Vietnam, which led my great grandma to sell opium on the black market and the need for my grandma and her sisters to work at the military bars to support the family. My grandmother shared stories about how her parent's marriage and the need to follow her sister's rules shaped whom she got to love and marry:

Myself: You tried to marry Vietnamese people?

My Grandma: But them not rich so my sister say no that way.

Myself: Did your husband have a lot of money?

My Grandma: Yes crazy, we don't want to talk about it, sister the boss first, you know, tell father mother and they don't listen to me, they don't have time. When the French left he [her dad] worked for the government, but he too old. My father had wife and

girlfriend, we don't talk about it, rich people them have a lot of girlfriends, that's it. Man, the boss that it, you want to be good, you have to let them do what they want. Talk nice but they want to have a girlfriend, you let them.

My grandmother clearly emphasizes the power hierarchy to let men do whatever they please, even if that means having other girlfriends which may not seem morally acceptable in cisheteropatriarchal Anglo-Saxon marriages. She also shares the need to "be good" and to "talk nice" to men, displaying the ways in which notions of filial piety shaped her ideas of love, marriage and intimacies.

My grandmother's description of just being "good" and "letting them do what they want" evokes the mainstream stereotype of Asian women as passive robotic objects. By examining historical moments and cultural productions, we can trace the epistemology of the myth that Asian women are "sex machines" (Bui). While many cultural productions like *Full Metal Jacket* display Vietnamese women as automatons and sexual robots, my grandmother's stories of labor were more complex than what has been displayed in white male imagined films and cultural productions. The sexist imagination of the Asian hostesses abroad as sole objects of pleasure allowed the men to justify their intimacies by treating them as economic transactions rather than emotional intimate interactions (Bui 103). My grandma started working as a bar hostess when she was seventeen in order to help financially support her family. Given my grandmother's limited opportunities in Vietnam due to the U.S. empire shattering Vietnam's economy, her sisters advised my grandmother to resist through the engagement of intimate labor by "taking advantage" of American men's position and financial resources (Espiritu).

Although my grandmother found ways to resist when engaging in intimate labor, she also continued to face perpetual gendered violence. When my grandmother did not adhere to the

Western male imagination of Asian women being subservient sexual objects and displayed her own autonomy, she was met with further violence:

My Grandma: So, the guy one time, he fall in love with me, he buy me flowers all the time, one day he come find me and he think because I work in club, I'm a bad girl. So, I go home, and I have people drive me car me home. He stops the car; he scares me, and he take me to go to hotel.

My Mom: And were you fighting him?

My Grandma: Yes crazy.

My Mom: He thought you owed him something then?

My Grandma: Yes, I still take his money but lie to him, but he get mad you know, that what he do, same them you take people money, and you lie to them, say you go back with them some bullshit and you don't do that, they mad, them follow you, them try to hurt you, that's it.

This short story displays the gendered violence my grandma faced while working at the bar and the ways in which the economic trade of emotional intimacies inside the bar could lead to further violence. My grandmother ending her phrase with "that's it" displays the ways in which these actions of violence became regular and well known. The phrase displays the acceptance of the patriarchal violence that women like my grandma had to face while working in the bar and the tensions she had to handle in order to ensure her own safety. My grandma shared that many of the women working at the bar resisted the power structures by lying to the men in order to get their money and go home.

They also engaged in emotional titillations, allowing the male soldiers to build a fantasy of actual intimacies:

My Grandma: Saigon tea. Them say you have to drink but no we just drink a couple drinks and we just drink tea. You tell them Buy Buy you know? So, you say okay, you buy me drink tonight, I go home with you, you know. So, this means money. You know?

My Mom: How many people did you have to talk to? Do you talk that you have to go home with them?

My Grandma: We do many people, no I never go home with them. I just talk like that, TALK like "Oh yea, we go out with you tonight, okay baby" I say, "Okay when I have a time," but I tell them when I don't have a time and I have to go home. You know, you know, I live with my mother and father that time I still live with mommy and daddy. Okay, now you get it? Same your daddy, I like him he buy me couple drink. I go with him because I like him.

Many of the women in the bars, including my grandma, found ways in which to resist the patriarchal gendered violence justified through the Asian sex robot myth. The women found ways to do their work and to complete their goal of gaining financial survival during war while also maintaining their own agency. Bui's chapter, "Sex Machines: Exploiting the Bionic Woman of Color for the Cold War Economy," shares how the film *Full Metal Jacket* depicts Vietnamese women as machines due to their reduced repetitive dialogue and limited story. Although the reduced repetitive dialogue is a characteristic of Asian sex robots limiting their personhood, this reduced repetitive dialogue allowed them to reduce their own energy and time while achieving their goals during the job. My grandmother shared with me that she would tell the men the same things, the things they wanted to hear, and she would get their money. Although my grandmother's choice of repeated dialogue would make her seem like an automaton, she was able to strategically figure out what phrases worked for her and what actions would allow her to achieve her economic goals. My grandmother shared how many of the military men would buy her "Saigon Tea" to share, the tea would sometimes be mixed with whiskey making it alcoholic or would just be actual non-alcoholic tea. My grandmother shared how when she was given the alcoholic version, she would throw it behind her to pretend to drink. My grandmother's repeated actions can be seen as a performance of the "robot self," in order to appeal and fulfill Western imaginations, but many cultural productions simplify Vietnamese women's stories to portray the

robot-like performance as if it was their whole self in order to continue the justification of the sexualization and violence that have been inflicted on Asian women's bodies during the Cold War and ongoing imperialism in Asia.

When speaking with my grandma, instead of seeing herself as robotic, she in a way saw the American military men as clones. She told me how the American GIs would frequently say the same things to her, and they all looked the same. While the racialized womxn performing intimate labor on military camps are seen in Western media as the fungible figure of the Asian sex robot, American GIs are not only fungible to the state but also to the womxn working in the bars. In relation to the Asian women sex machine myth is the invincible military man, the "myth of invincible American manhood, where an ordinary man recruited into the world's mightiest army could aspire to be a globe-trotting stud with 'an inexhaustible penis,' roaming around the world" (Bui 108).

My grandfather, a cis white man, often boasted about traveling to over one hundred different countries and engaging in sexual encounters in each one. Despite not serving in the military, as an engineer, he wielded similar economic, racial and patriarchal power to American soldiers. This privilege of working as an engineer building infrastructure shielded him from the looming threat of expendability that U.S. military soldiers faced (Lee). While my grandfather's work took place in the midst of war, he was not on the frontlines fighting the war and thus his life was more protected than the many U.S. soldiers. When recounting his relationship with my grandmother, he frames the narrative around his pursuit of a female companion:

My Grandpa: Well, of course, I was a young guy on the prowl, and I was looking for female companionship. I didn't want to go to a brothel or a whorehouse. So, I went to a few clubs, and I met your mom. She was working in one of them. And I went back, and we started dating, and then we got an apartment together and we got along great. She gave me about 11 great years.

While the stories of military men and the intimacies of Vietnamese women is the predominant narrative, my grandfather's experience as an engineer displays the ways in which the corporate industrial complex played a role in the intimate affairs during war. The building of military infrastructure in Vietnam was one of the United States' largest military construction projects that created not only military industrial money but also money for construction consortiums like RMK-BRJ (Schenck). The war in Vietnam was not only an anticommunist military project but also a project of corporate construction, building of American infrastructure and a way to expand imperial capitalist power. The military bars not only served American soldiers but also men who were a part of the corporations involved in the military industrial complex. In 1968, my grandfather started working as a contractor in Vietnam building air conditioners which were some of the most valuable equipment and were set in place to improve military imperial performance (Traas 385). My grandpa's description of meeting my grandma and their time together displays the ways in which power dynamics play a role in the created narrative. My grandmother was working in the club to provide for her family, while my grandfather didn't feel like attending other venues of intimacy, leading him to go to the bar. While my grandfather starts the narrative as if he is a hunter on the lookout for sexual animal prey, he then transitions to emphasizing their good times and love together. He shares how they ended up sharing a space together and eventually had eleven years of marriage together.

My grandparents' marriage at many points was filled with memories of mutual love and care. In 2013, when I was at a family party for my grandmother's birthday, she jumped in the pool to show off to my grandpa that she remembered how to swim since he taught her. She pulled up her bathing suit, slapped her butt and jumped off the diving board. After she jumped in, she started drowning and my uncle saved her. After my grandmother's swimming stunt, my

grandfather followed her around with his guitar singing her love songs. My grandmother and grandfather's relationship cannot be reduced to their power dynamics caused by the American imperial war machine but instead their relationship lays out the complexities of war, marriage and gendered expectations that made their relationship one that had continuous tensions.

"Wifehood": Good Refugee, Good Wife

Narratives in the media have created the intertwined dichotomy between the rescued, Vietnamese refugees, and rescuers, Vietnam veterans. In conjunction with these narratives, many postwar news sources displayed veterans as friends of Vietnamese refugees and emphasized the theme of gratitude (Espiritu). In order to be labeled as a "good refugee" deserving of the resources and the opportunity to immigrate to the United States, Vietnamese refugees are expected to show gratitude to the state (V. Nguyen). Through the rendering of the figure of the "good refugee" who is successful and anticommunist, the United States is able to justify the Vietnam War as a "good war" that was necessary and moral (Espiritu). The construction of the grateful refugee also allows for the justification of current neo-imperial violence (V. Nguyen). Rather than having to gain refuge from the state, many Vietnamese American women, like my grandma, tried to gain refuge through intimacies. Therefore, they do not necessarily owe the state their gratitude but instead their American husband, making the Vietnamese women who participated in war marriages not necessarily a "good refugee" that serves the neoliberal state by assimilating and participating in neoliberal ideas of success, but instead a "good wife" that serves the patriarchal agreement of marriage. Instead of the obligation of proving oneself to the state, my grandmother had the obligation to have children, provide intimacy and be a "good wife."

Being a Vietnamese war bride created a precarious legal and economic position for many women, making it extremely difficult to leave abusive partners. While my grandmother felt

many obligations of being a wife to my grandpa and a mother to her daughters, she shared how she divorced her first husband, the U.S. Navy Sailor, a few months after she arrived in the United States. While my grandmother dated my grandfather in Vietnam, he eventually had to leave due to his contract ending. My grandfather said he would come back to Vietnam but he never did, so my grandmother had to marry an American GI in order to immigrate to the United States to be with her eldest daughter and her sister. Once she and her first husband immigrated to the United States, he quickly became violent and abusive, causing her to soon divorce him after arriving in Omaha, Nebraska. Since my grandmother already had her sister in the United States and her sister's husband was an American military veteran, this may have made her situation less precarious than Vietnamese women who may have no family or relatives in the United States.

My grandmother continually resisted the imperial patriarchal violence she faced while being a bar hostess and continued to do so even when she married a U.S. soldier, allowing her to migrate to the United States to be with her daughter. She shared with me that even when she married and moved to the United States with an American soldier, she continued to resist against the gendered violence she faced:

My Grandma: Yes, I divorce him in Nevada.

Myself: And then you went to go find grandpa?

My Grandma: Yeah, yeah. I divorced him after only two months. You have to stay there for two months because he was mean, so that reason why I don't want, he go crazy, he worked to kill people. You never know, he can kill you.

Vietnamese refugees and Vietnam veterans have been intertwined in creating a dichotomy between rescued and rescuer. In the media, narratives have been focused on the private home lives of "innocent" Vietnam veterans allowing for a cultural transformation that

34

turns the loss of the Vietnam War into a "good war." While cultivated narratives have displayed Asian war bride indebtedness or gratitude towards American soldiers, my grandmother resisted these notions and found a way to yet again escape from further imperial violence. She positions her ex-husband as a killer, who goes crazy and works to kill people. Many times, military Vietnam veterans are positioned as saviors and rescuers, but my grandma posits that his job was not one of rescuing but instead a job of killing (Espiritu). She ends by stating "You never know, he can kill you," emphasizing the violence follows even after immigrating to the United States, further perpetuating one to be in a continuous state of refugeetude (V. Nguyen 118). An intimate violence could lead to her death even after "escaping" war. My grandmother was able to divorce her husband with details that she does not really explain further. She shared how she ended up in Vegas, allowing her to gamble and party after their divorce. She shared with me how she met famous celebrities and was even asked to be a part of the show business. While many may see this situation as scary and traumatic, my grandma shared the joy and freedom she felt after her divorce, after yet again having to escape the circumstances of structural and interpersonal imperial violence.

Soon after my grandmother's divorce, she found my grandpa's home number in the yellow pages. She called the number and my grandpa's sister answered the phone, letting my grandma know that he was in Nassau, Bahamas. A few months later, my grandpa returned to the United States and reconnected with my grandmother. They got back together and eventually got married, allowing them to start traveling together for my grandpa's work as an engineer. They ended up getting married in 1974 in Kingston, Ontario, where one of my aunts was born.

When I saw my grandmother this past summer, I sat on the floor looking up at her while she told me stories about the duties of being a wife to my grandfather and a mother to my mother

and aunts. She shared how she felt that as a wife she had to continually provide sexual intimacies with my grandfather and how she did not want to travel but had to for my grandfather's job:

Myself: And then did you like living in U.S.? Or did you miss home?

My Grandma: Miss home but honey I have a kid, two three kids. So, what the hell? I need to go love my kids, so I don't want to, but we go and travel everywhere, your grandpa travel everywhere. We go to Nicaragua, we go to Saudia, we go to...your grandpa he knows.

While my grandmother's life may have seemed glamorous, being married to a wealthy white man that allowed her to travel the world, my grandmother shared a longing for Vietnam. Even in the retelling, she cannot recount every place she went to and tells me to instead ask my grandpa.

For my grandmother and many women, wifehood and motherhood were inherently entangled (Hallstein). Motherwork and wifework have been theorized within well-known feminist works such as Hochschild's *Second Shift*, while scholarship examining and contextualizing the continuous labor of womxn of color mothering and grand-mothering has recently grown to consider intersectional motherhood (Collins). When my grandma immigrated to the United States, she came with her own understanding of family structures and mothering that was shaped by circumstances of war, Vietnamese tradition and socio-economic class, which differed from the Anglo-Saxon ideal notion of motherhood. For example, since my great grandfather in Vietnam was wealthy, they also grew up with maids, nannies and other care workers that allowed her mother to have a network of caretakers in addition to herself. When the war started and they immigrated South, my grandmother's mother was away from home since she was suddenly financially responsible for her family during the Vietnam war. Therefore, my grandmother was left with her sisters to take care of her, shaping her own context and

understanding of motherhood. My great grandfather also had multiple wives and girlfriends, playing a role in the ways in which my grandmother understood family dynamics. My grandmother also shared with me how she preferred being in other countries, where their buying power was greater, allowing her to access the lifestyle she grew up with.

The socio-economic buying power that my grandma and grandpa had in other countries such as Vietnam, Indonesia and Saudi Arabia allowed her to have support and help while fulfilling the motherwork duties. In the beginning of the interview, my grandmother shared how she preferred not traveling and wanted to stay in one place, possibly due to having to move her children from place to place making them find a new school and friends. While she did not enjoy traveling, she shared how she wished they just stayed in Saudi Arabia. My grandmother explained how she preferred living in places other than the United States, disrupting the dominant narrative that Vietnamese refugees can only access the "good life" once they immigrate to the U.S.:

My Grandma: My sister say I love overseas more than I love America. That is true because I go with your grandpa because you can have everything over there, you have servants just like Vietnam. So why you come to America for? You go to Saudi Arabia, Indonesia you have servant people work and you have villa [fancy home].

Myself: But in Saudi Arabia you were just by yourself right?

My Grandma: I live every country, in Indonesia I know how to speak with them too. Even in Nicaragua, just learn through the servant, them teach you. Them loved you, you're good, to them just like family, not like American over here, them you treat them good, them do anything for you, show you how to go buy fish for not too much money. I love in Saudi Arabia people kill the American because he talk bad, you don't put your hand in people face over Saudi Arabia.

My grandmother asks, "So why you come to America for?", trivializing the American dream and sharing how other countries allowed her to live an even more luxurious lifestyle.

Since my grandmother got to live an upper middle-class lifestyle in Vietnam and abroad she then resents her life in America as a place that does not allow her to have the same resources and access to labor that could help support herself and her family. Many narratives use the Would-Have-Been trope that makes the reader not mourn the war but instead the people who were left behind. They are powerful because they make the case that this life—of education, opportunities, and social mobility—would be unimaginable in Vietnam, and thus could only be had here in the United States. Most often, these "would-have-beens" are mere speculation (Espiritu 98). Many refugee stories are about if they stayed they would have had a less successful life, but in my grandmother's story she felt as if they were able to stay in Vietnam or abroad they would have been able to survive and sustain a community that has not been possible in the neoliberal United States. My grandmother also explained how she perceived her relationship with the domestic care workers of being one built on trust, care and love. She shared a romanticized vision of how these relationships were not like ones in the United States where people may dehumanize care workers, but instead how living abroad allowed her to have a friend that would teach her language to communicate and how to navigate spaces in the country. While my grandmother may have created trusting kinships with the care workers, her idealization of these relationships signifies my grandmother's longing for higher social status which was achievable due to my grandfather's economic power in the countries abroad. In this instance, rather than my grandmother always providing care and service labor, she had someone else to take care of her and be able to provide service labor to her. My grandmother frequently shared how her economic status in the United States did not allow her to have the same communities and people around her.

Due to the nuclear neoliberal family structure in the United States, her economic status abroad and the anti-Asian racism following the Vietnam war, my grandmother explained how life abroad was better for her and allowed her to not only be a mother but also a have a job she enjoyed:

Myself: And what was it like living in Saudi Arabia?

My Grandma: I like it. I have a job. * Excitement *

Myself: What was your job?

My Grandma: I am a supervisor for food. Oh, my God. I'm a boss, see nobody got a job to work in Saudi Arabia, but I have it. A lot of women only marry, but them not be there long, them go in two months or something.

My grandmother spoke excitedly about the opportunity to work in Saudi Arabia and to be in charge. She also proudly claimed that she was one of the only married women in Saudi Arabia with a job. This role not only allowed her to be a mother at home but also be a worker where she felt needed and in power. In contrast, my grandmother's other work as a mother, a bar hostess and later a bar owner was predicated on the continuous servicing of men. My grandmother may have spoken so highly of this job because it was one of the only jobs where she was not having to serve men and lie to men, but instead she got to be a leader, doing something she was proud to claim as her own. While my grandmother spoke highly about living abroad and the ways in which having care workers among her helped her live as a mother and worker, once she moved to the United States, those systems and networks of care were no longer available, making her the sole caretaker and leading her to be emotionally and physically absent.

"Motherhood": The Monstrous Vietnamese Mother

Motherhood has been shaped by racialization and systemic barriers. The very "creation" of the United States was predicated on the forced motherhood and gendered violence faced by

Native and Black women. This historical context underscores the deep-rooted connection between motherhood and the mechanisms of racial capitalism. Additionally, instances such as the coerced sterilization of women of color further exemplify how motherhood has been entangled with systemic gendered violence (Collins). Conceptions of "good" motherhood are predominantly predicated on white heteropatriarchal middle-class Anglo-Saxon ideals, leading other mothers who do not follow these practices to be labeled as deficient mothers (Palko, Ladd-Taylor and Umansky). "Good" motherhood is dependent on racist, capitalist, neoliberal and patriarchal principles, putting even more pressure and subjecting further judgment on Womxn of Color and Queer mothers (Palko). Ocean Vuong's essay, "A Letter to My Mother That She Will Never Read," works through the complexities of having a Vietnamese refugee mother and the ways in which violence and care can both exist at the same time. Vuong displays deep understanding and compassion for his mother while also acknowledging the violent acts she did to him. He beautifully writes, "I read that parents suffering from PTSD are more likely to hit their children. Perhaps there is a monstrous origin to it, after all. Perhaps to lay hands on your child is to prepare him for war... You're a mother, Ma. You're also a monster" (Vuong 22). Vuong contextualizes his mother's violent acts as not only interpersonal, but acts stemming from the PTSD from systemic and structural violence she endured during the Vietnam War, as well as the challenges being a Vietnamese refugee in America. Elizabeth Hanna Rubio's "Of Mothers and Monsters" also contends with her relationship to her mother who was a refugee from the Korean War, further pointing to the necessity to not only acknowledge the structures and systems that shape motherhood but also the need to hold people accountable for their actions. Rubio emphasizes how her mother can hold multiple truths, how her mother can both be someone affected by the systems and structures of violence while also perpetuating further interpersonal

violence. Vuong's narrative and Rubio's essay contemplates the notion of who qualifies as a "good mother" and who possesses the emotional capacity to nurture their children, all within the context of colonial and imperial violence.

Since it was extremely stigmatized to have mixed race children with GI soldiers in Vietnam and due to extreme difficulties being a mother during war, many mothers were forced and coerced to give up their children (Sachs, Woo). War, violence and systemic oppression not only split families physically, but also shape one's ability to be an emotionally loving mother even if given the opportunity to stay together. Since my grandmother was forced to work as a bar hostess to provide for her family and marry an American soldier to come to the United States, it may have led to not only a resentment towards her husband but also a resentment towards her children. Since it was extremely stigmatized to have mixed-race children, my grandmother was not only looked down upon due to her work as a bar hostess in Vietnam but was also shamed for being a mother to mixed-race children. Therefore, these circumstances of survival shaped the way my grandmother understood her position as a mother and the internalized shame shaped how she could show love for her children.

My grandmother shared with me her own personal family histories and how they informed her way of parenting. She shared with me that kids and grandkids in her family in Vietnam usually don't talk to their elders personally or intimately, but instead they have a more hierarchical relationship where the elder tells the child something and they have to do it. My grandmother shared with me the violent consequences she faced if she broke the rules in her own home:

My Grandma: I kick my daughter in Indonesia but here you don't. In America you not allowed to do that.

Myself: In Vietnam that's okay?

My Grandma: Yeah, beat the shit out of you, lock you up. Nine o clock, you come 9:05 your father lock you up, beat you up, five minute, that way my father. In America you do what you want.

My grandmother explained how her father would beat and lock her up if she came home late or broke the rules. Although child abuse and violence should not be justified, it could have also been shaped by the decades of war and violence around them, from French colonialism to American imperialism. The circumstances of colonialism, imperialism and systemic violence could have shaped a constant fear and need to be harsh as a parent since the world around them could be even harsher. If my grandmother came home late as a child, it could mean that the outside violence of war could happen or could have happened to her. My great grandfather was also a general in the French Vietnamese military, displaying how violent military practices could be brought into the home. The violence then is not only done through combat but can also be transferred to interpersonal familial relationships, thereby normalizing violent disciplinary practices due to the historical context. While historical context may provide insight into these actions, it does not justify the further violence inflicted and contemporary research has displayed how violent practices can have extremely negative impacts on childhood physical and mental well-being. Childhood abuse can cause PTSD, which is then exacerbated by the context of war (Powers et al.).

My grandmother's story of parental violence reveals how violence was normalized in her household and this normalized as a parental practice. She shared with me how she used physical abuse with her children:

My Grandma: American you love your kid, you don't hit them, but my kids do good to me. I don't hit them, I don't know if I hit them or not, I don't remember.

My Mom: You never hit me in America, but you hit us overseas when you lived in Indonesia.

My Grandma: Oh yes, mhmm, I hit your sister, I beat the hell out of her.

My Mom: You throw glass bottles?

My Grandma: Yes, yes.

My Mom: And then when you came to America was that weird that you couldn't hit your kids?

My Grandma: Yeah, that's crazy. You can go to jail. That's crazy. What the hell?

My grandma shares how she doesn't remember if she physically hit her kids and once reminded she bluntly shares that it was crazy that in America you could not do this any longer. My grandmother without little remorse states, "Oh yes, mhmm, I hit your sister, I beat the hell out of her." My grandmother saw the abuse of her daughters as a normalized and justified part of life. Throughout the interviews, my grandmother also uses swearing to emphasize her continuous resistance by pushing back against idealization of respectability politics grounded in whiteness and conservative Anglo-Saxon motherhood (Lane).

In her analysis, my grandmother highlights the differing perspectives around respect between the United States and Vietnam:

My Grandma: That's the way we do. That's it. You talk about American, your mother talk to you, you talk back, you're not allowed to. Your mother say yes means yea, no means no, you don't have to say anything to her. That's it. You just listen to her. Mom say, "Okay you go market," "Yes ma'am." You know? Let's go. If she say something not right, you still do it. Don't say, "No mom," don't do it, you know? Yeah, we don't allowed to, she beat the shit out of you.

In a way my grandmother's explanation of respecting her mother can be seen as an ultimate feminist expression. Many times, mothers are not seen as authority figures within the nuclear family, but my grandmother explains how her mother's knowledge and orders are ones that you

can trust without question. Meanwhile in the United States, notions around American feminist empowerment emphasize the importance of individualism, asserting oneself and resisting parental control. These differing cultural and feminist ideologies created tensions between my grandma and her daughters. Moreover, my grandmother's upbringing in Vietnam further exacerbated these tensions, as it diverged from the American Anglo-Saxon ideals of motherhood.

Consequently, these disparities not only strained intergenerational relationships but also contributed to a sense of emotional distance that impacted the depth of their love for each other.

My aunt shares how the love with her mother felt absent:

My Aunt: My mom was hardly there. She never hugged us. She was really mean. I mean, she used to cook and stuff. But emotionally, she was emotionally absent. I don't think she really cared what we did or my dad, for that matter. Because we would leave the house and not come back and didn't really do anything. Yeah. They would try. My dad would try to discipline us, but it never worked out for him. Because we were bad kids. *laughter*

Although my grandmother fulfilled motherwork and wifework duties such as cooking, my aunt explains how my grandma was mean and emotionally unavailable to them. My aunt continued and explained how she felt that her mom just gave birth to them but that was the extent to which she was a mother to them:

Myself: I guess now being a mom yourself. Did that kind of change the way that you saw grandma like the way?

My Aunt: Yes, it made me realize that my mom she pretty much just had us she gave us birth and she never hugged us. Like I said, she would cook, she would cook that you know, cook us dinner and drop us off at school and stuff, but it was very... I don't remember being feeling loved or like "Oh, my mom's a great person." She was kind of just there...

My grandmother explained to me that she felt the need to have more children in order to please my grandfather. Feelings of indebtedness and gratitude as a wife may have caused my grandmother to have children that she may have not wanted. My aunt shared how my

grandmother was present doing "wifework" such as cooking and dropping her children off at school, but she did not really engage in the expected emotional nurturing of motherhood. Since my grandmother may have had feelings of indebtedness to my grandpa, she had her children to please his requests and once she fulfilled the duty, my grandmother decided to resist by not engaging in the emotional labor of childcare.

My aunt also shares how she felt as if her mom hated her and blamed her for being an obstacle in being with her family:

My Aunt: Well, I didn't like grandma until a couple years ago, on my 40th birthday, she called me, and she said, "Hey, do you know what today is?" and I was like, "I don't know." She's like, "Today's the day I forgive you for being born." I was like, "Well, thanks. I don't really care." You know what I mean? And it was a whole discussion. Just, you know, just being grandma. And I think she finally forgave me because she was pregnant with me when her brother died, and Grandpa died. And she thinks for some reason, if she wasn't pregnant, she could have gone back to Vietnam and saved her family or something.

This quote highlights the conflicting feelings that my grandma had around motherhood. She frequently resented the need to marry an American man, immigrate to a new place and leave her family. Vinh Nguyen's *Lived Refuge* explains how resentment unveils the "...precarious refuge marked by continuous unsettlement. In this way, resentment clarifies the actions and reactions of those who must continue to hold on to the past, who presently live the effects of a past that is not yet past and who attempt to reach the refuge held out to, and also withheld from them" (V. Nguyen 9). My grandmother's children were then further products of the multitude of forced past choices that were shaped by imperial violence, war and economic fragility. My grandmother's hateful acts towards her daughters displays the ways in which refugee resentment manifests itself in a holding on to the past. My grandmother's resentment bubbles as the promises of refuge, of marrying a rich white man, having American children and living out the so-called "good"

refugee" life does not allow her to save her family and does not provide the protections promised (V. Nguyen).

"Grandmotherhood": Grandma's Bar, a Site for Patriarchy and Motherhood

My grandmother frequently told me to just please your husband, to say yes and to be nice, displaying my grandmother's need to display her sense of gratitude through niceties. "You just have to marry a rich white man and you'll be okay," my grandma said sternly every time I would visit her. She looked at me and continued, "All men are the same, at least marry a rich one." My grandmother would repeatedly tell me to "always just say yes and be nice to men but you don't really have to do it, but you just say it to make them happy." These unforgettable lines have lived in my head since I could comprehend my grandma's words. As I grew older, I began to think about how these words of advice from my grandmother reveal her own critique of white heteropatriarchal love, intimacies and dreams. Through her advice, my grandmother revealed her acts of resistance and hoped that the generation of women who followed her would possibly hack the systems of racial cis-heteropatriarchal oppression. While my grandmother may seem to be reproducing systems of racial heteropatriarchal oppression, her constant reiteration of this phrase displays her awareness of the structures and systems that shape power dynamics, allowing her to subvert them and have the upper hand by knowing the rules of the game of refuge in the United States. Since my grandma is not able to provide safety and refuge for her daughters through her own economic or social power, she tells them the ways she knows how to achieve these things, through their looks and marriage (V. Nguyen).

My grandmother owned and helped operate multiple bars in Virginia once she and my grandpa finally settled in the United States in 1983. Since my grandfather traveled frequently for his job, he bought my grandmother a bar that would allow her to work while he was away. My

grandmother was a business owner, an entrepreneur and seemed to live the American Dream. While growing up, the bar my grandma owned felt like a safe place and a place of community. My cousins and I would frequently go to the bar to visit my grandma where she served us fried bar food and allowed us to play games on the computer monitors meant for gambling. The air was filled with smoke and all I remember is the walls being pitch black. One night when I was five years old my mom went out with her friends and allowed me to stay with my grandma. My grandma took me to her bar while she worked, and I fell asleep playing a video game that simulated a restaurant. I woke up to my grandma yelling at a man to stick me in the car. These memories prompted me to want to know and understand the particular experiences of what it was like to grow up in a bar. I've heard stories about my grandma's bar and I also have my own experiences being there, but I never heard the stories that my mom shared with me during this interview:

Myself: What was it like going to the bar growing up?

My Mom: Oh yeah, I would go to the bar from when I was little and then have animal cookies. I would play with the animal cookies and take naps on the pool table. One time, I made a lot of money by stripping with my clothes on when I was little. I danced on the table and everyone threw money at me. That was fun.

Myself: How old were you?

My Mom: Oh, seven or eight. And I would play that horse race game and then my mom would be like, you had to be super pretty, or like, be perfect. So, like, she would like if you didn't look a certain way, she wouldn't bring you out.

My mom shares how her childhood innocence was shaped by the bar scene. Although this testament may suggest my grandmother's lack of care for my mother, my grandmother ran her own bar, leaving her with little options of childcare if her other daughters were not there to watch her youngest daughter. My mom shared how she thought it was fun getting to dance and she

didn't share that she felt objectified as a child, but instead always felt the need to be perfect to win her mom's love. After my mom shared this quote, my mom shared how her mother's love was predicated on the constant need to look perfect. My mom explained to me if her hair wasn't perfectly put together or if she wore the wrong outfit that day, her mom would just leave her at home. She also shared how my grandma would even allow men to put money down on her in the bar so that they could possibly date or marry her when she grew up:

My Mom: She would bring us to the bar or wherever where she could sell us to the people that were bidding on us, literally she would bring us and then she had people giving her money for when I turn old enough to like marry me or date me. So, we were like a product.

My grandmother's push for perfection and using her daughters as products both perpetuated and resisted ideas of femininity to further profit from the patriarchal structures that defined their lives. My grandmother has continually found ways to economically profit and use the preconceived notions of the over-sexualized Asian robot sex myth to her advantage. My mom and my aunt shared how they felt objectified through this process, even though my grandmother financially awarded them. My grandmother would try to take money from men by stating how they could date my mom later in life, using their sexism in a way that favors her.

My aunt shared another tactic my grandmother would use in the bar:

My Aunt: Every summer, I would come home from college, I would go to the bar. And my mom, you know, I would get in the bar. And she'd be like, go, my makeup is in the back room. And I'd be like, I don't want to, and I would fight her, and I wouldn't do it. But that was the first thing she would do. And then she'd get a beer, I'd end up leaving that bar after two hours with like \$200 to \$300 because she would be asking every guy in there to buy me a beer and she would be using the same beer, she would just pull it down and act like she was getting a new one.

My grandma would tell men to buy my aunt a beer and would use the same beer over and over again, tricking them into giving her more money. Although my grandmother was resisting

patriarchal notions by taking financial advantage, it also led her to cause further distance from her daughters. Anglo-Saxon cis-heteropatriarchal visions of "good motherhood" are usually tied to traits such as nurturing, care and unconditional love (Collins). While many children crave these traits from their mothers, my grandmother provided the advice, guidance and nurturing that she could best provide. In a way, my grandmother showing them how to financially take care of themselves by using their looks was her way of nurturing in a world that does not provide unconditional love.

My aunt shared how my grandmother's tactics frequently made her uncomfortable and how she would resist my grandmother's wishes:

My Aunt: She always wanted me to wear sexy clothes. I don't have any cleavage, because she would tell me to wear a crop top and I never listened to her. I told her no. I didn't want to do that. In order to make money, like she really believed that I should get married to a rich guy.

While my grandma's push for femininity and perfection may have been due to the pressures she faced and having to be beautiful to survive war, it put pressure on my mom and aunts so much that it made them resentful of their mother:

My Aunt: I feel like my mom, growing up with my mom, she's very vain. I really think that all of us are vain in some way because we grew up having a mom, you know, who always wanted us to be perfect. Or sometimes she would tell us we looked ugly. God, my mom sucked.

My grandmother's harsh words and constant need for them to be perfect may be seen as a product of violent patriarchal systems, causing strife and pain between my grandma and her daughters. These ideas of femininity, worth and perfection when not coming from only the media and society but also your own mother can cause extreme emotional pain. While my grandmother may have been demystifying the ways in which sexist gendered systems work through her words and actions, interpersonally this need for perfection felt like a loveless act—or rather, a love that

was solely predicated on looks and feminine abilities. Within feminist discourse, domination theory argues that women's sexuality is often constructed based on male desire. Many scholars and community activist are continually debating whether gender equality can be achieved with sex work existing (Sloan and Wahab). Consequently, leveraging one's femininity to exploit patriarchal systems has been viewed by some as inherently anti-feminist, as it can be perceived as perpetuating male desires and reinforcing traditional gender roles. This dichotomy between the empowerment gained through financial independence and the objectification experienced through the commodification of femininity underscores the complex intersections of feminism, labor and sexuality within contemporary society.

These various complexities played a role in the ways in which self-worth was constructed intergenerationally:

My Cousin: But I also think it is a little bit like, people like, we're at a slightly, I don't know if it's sexist, but they're not afraid to like use their femininity to get what they want. But I think I'm also kind of affected me when I was little, because I was like, is that all we're like, valued? Because all we have to offer?

The ideals of motherhood frequently center the concept of unconditional love. Traditional narratives around motherhood posit that one is supposed to love their child unconditionally. However, my grandmother's love for her daughters was many times predicated on feminine expectations and certain conditions. These expectations from my grandmother not only shaped the second generation, but also the third generation's perception of themselves. My cousin explained how my grandmother and aunt's use of femininity, shaped her own ideas of her own self-worth, feeling as if her only value was tied to looks based on expressions of femininity. While using femininity as a tool in a patriarchal society can be empowering, it can also feel limiting when the value of one's personhood is estimated on displays of cis-heterosexual expressions of femininity, appearance, and sexual offerings.

Although the space of the bar was a site for pressured perfectionism and performance, the bar was also a site of joy and bonding for the next generation. My grandmother brought my mom to a place where she could watch over her, a place she knew she would be safe and a place where she also grew up. My cousin and I talked about the normalization of bar culture and the bar as a place of youth:

Myself: How do you feel like growing up and seeing grandma own a bar?

My Cousin: I feel like it was really, like, normal for us. We were a little, it was like, considered fun and normal. And then growing up, it's really strange to be like, Oh as little kids we were at like a bar with that, you know, had like a strip club and naked people that was like okay. And I think that's normal for her because it was normal for grandma to do that and bring them around. So, like for her, it wasn't weird at all. But then as you get older, you know, if we saw like a kid behind in a strip club or behind a bar or in a club, we'd be like, what is going on? Oh, it's just their daughter would be like, yeah, why are they here?

Although to many a bar does not seem like a place for children, this was a place where we got to bond with our grandma and got to see her life. When I visited her during the summers, I sat at the bar playing computer bar games until I fell asleep and a bar patron would carry me out to my grandma's car. She would then wake me up in the car and tell me that we were going to K-Mart or Walmart to get snacks. While this may seem strange to many, the space and being a part of it as a child was exciting and normalized.

My aunt also shared how she found out my grandma brought her son to the bar as a young child:

My Aunt: I introduced her to her grandson when he was two. I went to the strip club and he was 2 years old sitting on a stack of yellow pages with a stack of \$1 bills playing poker machine with a cheeseburger next to him. Every time one of the strippers got off the stage, they would have to give Chandler \$5 in ones. So, she didn't get to see him for the next couple of years * laughter *

As my aunt told this story we started sharing laughter, and while this may seem to some like child neglect, to us it was what made her mom and my grandma unforgivingly herself. While my grandmother does not fit Anglo-Saxon ideals of motherhood or grand-motherhood, her unconventional methods, while being a product of war and violence, brought joy and laughter to multiple generations, with memories that will always remind us of our grandmother's sustained love, joy and fun.

My grandmother, in all of her complexities, holds multiple truths of being many different things to many different people. She is all at once a 'bad mother,' 'fun grandma' and 'loving wife' (Rubio). When my mom explained the ways in which my grandma pressured perfection and the need to marry for financial mobility, she shared how she felt, "But then I like realize I don't like hate it or feel any certain way because I know what she had to do to live. She just wants the best [for us] but it's just hard taking her advice." My mom's quote displays her understanding for her mom and the historical context that has shaped her life, while also not excusing her actions (Rubio). My mom's ability to hold multiple truths of her mother displays the intergenerational love and care that continue to persist even though their relationship has been shaped by multiple forms of interpersonal, systemic and structural violence (Rubio).

My grandmother accomplished the heteropatriarchal American Dream that lives in the white imagination by marrying a white rich American man, yet my grandmother, while advising her daughters and granddaughters in turn to marry a rich white man, continually critiques the power dynamics that underlie this advice. Although my grandmother has been able to achieve a mass amount of capitalist consumption and accumulation which is seen all throughout her house, the mass amount of clothes, jewelry and things display the ways in which neoliberal ideals of mass consumption does not put to rest the resentment and anger my grandmother feels from

facing the violence of imperialist war and inequalities in the United States. To many she has achieved the neoliberal heteropatriarchal American Dream with a house in the American South, a white husband, four daughters and piles of consumption that lay across her many bedrooms. One bedroom is completely filled with clothing, jewelry and makeup products. Yet they just sit there while my grandmother sits in front of her computer watching YouTube videos that are taking place in Vietnam. She watches Vietnamese gardening YouTube videos, longing for her home, her family and a place where the tensions causing resentment do not have to live. All of my maternal family long for a place that goes beyond surviving and live within the many memories of home, family and joy. The good, the bad and the in-between memories shape my family, allowing us to make sense of our lives in the so-called place of refuge. In order to understand the familial histories, the next chapter focuses on intergenerational communication to inspect the absence of silence in my family and to understand the complexities of how memory is passed down.



Fig. 1. Girlhood, Wifehood, Motherhood, Grandmotherhood, 2024

Chapter 2: Intergenerational Communication: Fragmented Memory, Absent Silence and Humorous Unfeeling

My grandmother's house sits on the corner of a wide street in southern Virginia with a sprawling front yard and plants she cultivated herself covering every inch. In between the plants are various sizes of Buddhas that lay on the ground for stomach scratches. I remember doing cartwheels in the front yard and catching fireflies with my cousins on humid summer nights. July brought the whole family together to celebrate my grandmother's birthday, spanning multiple generations. These recollections, though filled with joy, are intertwined with a quest to comprehend my family's Vietnamese heritage and its significance. My grandmother told me memories of joy, horror and love; many times, as nonchalant as saying the time of day. I also recall memories of us all standing around in the backyard and watching my aunts tell stories with frantic laughter in between each silence.

Through this project, I hope to understand and reveal how intergenerational communication is carried out and unpack the goals of the memories that are told, while also inspecting when silence is deployed and when it is absent (Cai and Lee 2022). In past literature, a main point of contention is the grave pains that silence, organized forgetting and historical confusion has caused for many Vietnamese and Southeast Asian refugees and their children (Troeung, Cai and Lee). Y-Dang Troeung's *Refugee Lifeworlds: The Afterlife of the Cold War in Cambodia* argues for the necessity of moving towards the silences even in fear and terms the concept "aphasia" to contend with the debilitating silence that has permeated the afterlives of refugees. Silence and forgetting are tools used by the state and refugees for a variety of reasons. The U.S. empire has used silence and forgetting to continue the benevolent savior narrative which is displayed through dominant narratives in cultural production, memorials and many other sites of remembrance (Espiritu). These dominant narratives have served as a way to silence

many Vietnamese refugees and cause the second generation to remember the Vietnamese War through the lens of the United States being a humanitarian savior in order to maintain current structures of marginalization and oppression. While silence can be used as a tool of violence, some Vietnamese Americans may use it as a way to show love and protect their children from the painful traumatic experiences of war from their pasts (N. Nguyen, Espiritu). Not only can silence be an act of care, silence can also be used as a tool of resistance to "remake new worlds" (Troeung 4, Kim).

This chapter expands on these works to explore instead how the absence of silence shapes intergenerational communication and memory between three generations of Vietnamese American women. In order to reveal how memory is complicated by master narratives and intergenerational misunderstandings, this chapter contends with the psychological term of "unfiltered speech" to display how a lack of silence can also cause detrimental consequences (Dalgaard and Montgomery). The chapter not only analyzes the memories of the first generation and how they are told, but also explores the term "postmemories" utilized by Marianne Hirsch and Yên Lê Espiritu, to understand how war and memory is pieced together by the second generation (Espiritu, Hirsch). Thus, the chapter inspects how the second generation has come to understand the Vietnam War, being Vietnamese and working through the traumas of war that their mother faced before them by piecing together what has been coined by psychologists as unfiltered speech (Dalgaard and Montgomery). The chapter also highlights how the use of humor and jokes have also been a key strategy to pass down memory and story intergenerationally within my family. While oral history studies have looked at humor as a "tool of alternative truth telling" and psychologists have theorized humor as a possible protective factor against posttraumatic stress, the theories about humor are still not agreed upon (Panichelli-Batalla,

Boerner et al.). In this chapter, consider how humor has been a powerful tool of communicating memory, trauma and shared understanding in my family. This chapter also engages with works on sentimentality, drawing mainly from Xine Yao's *Disaffected: The Cultural Politics of Unfeeling in Nineteenth-Century America* to understand the ways in which unfeeling and affect play a role in how memory and trauma are passed down intergenerationally. Finally, the chapter explores postulations and reflections on futures for Vietnamese American memory caretaking and how to handle intergenerational communication in hopes of achieving futures of radical healing (Cai and Lee). This chapter ultimately argues for the necessity to not only reflect on the silences, speech and intergenerational trauma, but also the larger structures that make us have to contend with these things in the first place. Thus, this chapter argues how it should not be a parent's job to figure out the "right" way to intergenerationally communicate stories of horrific trauma, but instead it is important to point to the larger structures of violence that lead multiple generations to have to grapple and cope with the lasting impacts of war every day, even generations after.

Unfiltered Lived Memories: First-Generation Storytelling

One story that has always stuck with me is one where my grandmother shared her memory about her first love. Sitting at her dining room table, amidst the aroma of her crafted pho simmering for 48 hours, she recounted this memory during an oral history interview in 2020, with my mother and me:

My Mom: Did you ever date Vietnamese people?

My Grandma: Oh yes, I had a boyfriend who was Vietnamese. He want to marry with me but because he poor my sister say no. You have to be rich.

My Mother: So, what happened?

My Grandma: Oh yes he kill himself, he love me and we only sixteen- or seventeen-year-old you know, he say if your family don't let me marry with you then I kill myself, he do it. He stupid, that is the way people, people crazy. Especially, Filipino they do same shit like that, men. You know? That's it...I talk in Vietnamese?

Myself: No, you are speaking English grandma.

My Grandma: *laughter* I don't know what I say.

My grandmother's telling of this story has many layers and allows us to gain insights into the many ways in which trauma is communicated across three generations. My grandmother frequently tells this story, thus there are not many silences but instead changing of subjects. My grandmother first talks about how her sister told her not to marry her first love, displaying how she felt like she had no control over whom to love and how she had to choose a partner in order to financially support her family during war. My grandmother stating "He stupid" after revealing something traumatic in a way takes away from the violence caused by war and puts the responsibility on the lover as an individual. While on the phone with my mom and me, my grandmother also interestingly relates her story to my own Filipino father. In telling this traumatic story, she not only refers to her Vietnamese boyfriend as stupid but also makes the statement that all Filipino men are stupid. Throughout my life, my grandmother has repeatedly told me how Filipino men are not suitable partners and how Vietnamese people do not like Filipinos because they are darker. Thus, she uses her story of trauma to communicate her advice to my mother and me. While colorism and white supremacy clearly play a role in my grandmother's statement, it may also reveal her reinforcing her sister's orders to not be with an Asian man, out of concern for long-term financial well-being. While interviewing my aunt, she also stated how she was sorry for how my grandmother talked about Filipino people. I told her how I was surprised to find out in college that not all Vietnamese people dislike Filipinos and

she was like, "Really? I thought it was like an all Vietnamese people thing." Therefore, this displays how my grandmother's own conceptions created the intergenerational narrative that all Vietnamese people do not like Filipinos. Due to war and financial constraints, my grandmother was unfortunately forced to see love not as an affect in itself but as a method and tactic for survival. My grandmother's story displays the ways that conforming to the imperialist white supremacist cis-heteropatriarchal formations of love was necessary for her to survive the war and continue to survive in the United States.

While it is not recorded here, my grandmother has nonchalantly told me in her small kitchen by the window that "he set himself on fire." While my grandmother is not silent about the many traumatic events that have taken place in her life, through the telling of this story and the way she quickly changes subjects displays to me that this story is one that brings up a lot of pain and sorrow. Throughout the interview, my grandmother also asks if she is speaking Vietnamese, possibly displaying how telling these traumatic stories transport her back to Vietnam or that these stories are so intimate she can only think of herself telling them in Vietnamese. While my grandmother has not remained silent about the many traumatic events in her life, many times she tells them with either laughter following or sometimes unfeeling. These are the tactics she uses for survival and to cope with the realities of love during war, a way to communicate her own experiences and memories in a way that allows for her listeners to be relieved by her laughter that follows (Cole, Yao 6).

After the tragic end to her relationship of love, my grandmother started working as a bar hostess at seventeen and started dating white American GIs. When my grandmother was twenty-years old she had her first child with a white U.S. Navy Sailor. Amerasian children have become a physical reminder of war and American intimacies in Vietnam. These intimacies were then

framed as a savior project where Vietnamese mothers were no longer capable of taking care of

their children, making it necessary to save them by bringing them to the United States. One

famous project in the American media was called Operation Babylift (Phan, Espiritu). In a 2015

NPR interview, the benevolent humanitarian narrative is continued by focusing on the white

male pilot and the chief medical officer who were on the C5 plane that crashed killing 138

children and people (Martin and Staff). They then talk about how one of the children was able to

reunite with the medical officer and she shares how she held all the babies in her arms. Thus, all

the Vietnamese children of the C5 crash who survived are due to the service and bravery of the

Air Force officers.

Although there is a continued narrative and focus on the Amerasian children who were

saved by brave military officers, many times there is not a focus on how Vietnamese mothers

had to navigate saving their children during the war. Since it was extremely stigmatized to have

mixed race children with GI soldiers in Vietnam and due to extreme difficulties being a mother

during war, many mothers were forced and coerced to give up their children (Sachs, Woo).

While there has been scholarship on the Amerasian Vietnamese adoptees, there has not been

many studies on the relationships between children and mothers who stayed together. While

many of these stories are traumatic, my grandmother explains it frankly, as a part of life:

Myself: And did you have your first child when you were in Vietnam?

My Grandma: Yes in Vietnam.

Myself: Was it hard?

My Grandma: Yes, they don't like American, they beat the shit out of her, so that is

reason why I have to marry with American, so that's it.

Myself: You couldn't marry Vietnamese because you already had auntie?

60

My Grandma: No, already Vietnamese don't want to marry with me already when I start working in the bar so that it, no more. They call you bad name, that crazy, that way life.

In this segment of the interview my grandma ends her statements with "that's it" and "that way life." She acknowledges that such discrimination is crazy and yet that is just a part of life. The denial of mixed-race children in Vietnam was imposed and deeply imbedded by French colonialism before the American War in Vietnam which possibly reveals the reason my grandmother just accepts it as a part of life. During the French colonial period, mixed-race boys, the French believed, could be saved through the education system, but mixed-race girls had no chance and were going to ruin morality in society (Lessard). Mixed-race children were seen as a threat to French imperial rule in Vietnam. Therefore, in order to justify the removal of mixedrace children, the French cultivated a gendered idea that mixed-race daughters would ruin their mothers and would become promiscuous later in life. Not only did French colonialism have an effect on the ways in which mixed-race women have been treated, but they also shaped Vietnamese motherhood, such as how some women were forced to abandon their mixed-race daughters during that time to save themselves from stigma. Thus, French colonialism left a gendered legacy of Western idealization and rejection of inter-racial mixing within Vietnam (Lessard). My grandmother makes sense of the war and unequal racial gendered dynamics as "that way life."

In 2023, my grandmother elaborated on her memories having a mixed-race child in Vietnam during the war:

Myself: What was it like having half white kids in Vietnam?

My Grandma: My daughter, when she was six years old, she go to school and people try to beat her up.

My Mom: Did you have to make her darker? I thought you said you had to put dirt on her or something?

My Grandma: In 68' people from North come to South and kill American so you have to put chocolate on her face or they'll kill her. I don't take her go nowhere.

My Mom: What happened to the maid holding the baby?

My Mom: Yeah she die in the house, the bomb coming she die and my baby still living, she lucky.

My grandma shared that when she tried to bring my eldest aunt to school, people tried to beat her up causing her to have to put chocolate on her face to protect her. Through this intergenerational conversation, my mom is also aware of certain memories and stories allowing her to prompt more stories from my grandmother. My grandmother calmly shares how a maid died while holding her child in the house and candidly calls my eldest Aunt "lucky." In Disaffected: The Cultural Politics of Unfeeling in Nineteenth-Century America, Xine Yao explains how unfeeling can be a tactic of survival: "There is a necessary calculus of refusals: the apparent lack or dulling of affect can be a defensive tactic of everyday psychic survival in a world predicated upon racial and sexual violences" (Yao 15). My grandmother's bluntness and unfeeling display how she copes with the violence of war (Yao 198). Unfortunately, with neoliberal capitalist lifestyles where one is made to constantly be working in a survival state, there is not much space for feeling, processing and allowing oneself to understand the ways in which war has impacted one's life. My grandmother living in Virginia Beach has also kept her isolated from community and other Vietnamese refugees aside from her sisters, who also married American military men. Thus, my grandmother has had to find ways to make sense of her world, the war and the violence in a way that may have led to unfeeling for survival, allowing war and violence to feel mundane and part of life (Yao). While her storytelling may seem and sound unfeeling to me as her granddaughter, this experience may seem unspectacular to her since many

people during the Vietnam War faced similar tragedies. Being third-generation and not living through war, I frame my grandmother's stories within my own life experiences and context, possibly projecting a need for affect on my grandmother.

When I interviewed my great aunt, my grandma's sister, she also shared about the war and trauma just being a part of life:

Myself: What was it like growing up in Vietnam?

My Great Aunt: Well back then it was a little bit, for the last 5 or 10 years the war was always there, they coming in. It's a little bit scary because I go to school. I can remember, you know, the North Vietnam bomb the South so they can see some times on the way to school, you can see the bodies on the streets, stuff like that, and at night when you sleep you heard the bomb thing all the time. A little bit scary because a lot of people even surround with the whole sand bags so they can go in. My family they don't do that but it is scary but we live through it. Because it was going for a long time long time as long as I can remember when I grew up, you can hear bomb almost even back in 1963 to 1969, you can hear the bombs all the time. It just is sad.

While this seems incredibly traumatic to me as a person who has not lived through war, my grandmother and my great aunt grew up in the midst of war. War became a part of life, a part of walking to school, a part of intimacies and a part of being for them. My great aunt states how it was "a little bit scary" and in a way diminishes the horror of having to live in war every day as a little girl in Vietnam. My great aunt's narrative of growing up in war displays how violence became a part of daily life, and while it sounds extremely scary to me as a listener, maybe it was actually only a little bit scary to her or maybe that is how she's framed it to survive through the daily reckonings of war.

While my great aunt spoke about the impacts of war on her life, she also spoke about the memories of happiness, joy and friendship while in Vietnam:

My Great Aunt: I was learning English in Vietnam, English is my second language, but I never paid that much attention to it. But it good because I did learn in school in Vietnam,

that's why when I come in United States only three months, I picked up normal. I did really good, I went out to work, I did everything. I think I can speak English better than my two sisters who have been there forever. I pick it up quick like in three months. I got the job by myself. I find a job by myself at work. I do everything so it worked good, but I got homesick a lot.

Myself: What did you miss?

My Great Aunt: You know childhood friend, you know you'll go out, and you go out with your friend's birthday party. Back then when I was young ,I love to go to party for dancing. You know how they have birthday party to go there and dance, and we just didn't drink. I don't smoke, but we love to dance. I do that, that when I was thirteen years old. I missed that a lot. I missed with all the friends so I go back. But 1974 I went back [to Vietnam]; I come here [United States] 71' and 74' I go because I really homesick, I buy one way ticket I never think I'll come back to the United States, never. So when I go back things change, it not like what I think before, so I work there for two months and I already come back. Yeah, I wanted to come back, but because of my family, so I end up I stayed there for six months then I come back but then it just like changed. I come back Vietnam, I'm not even 21 yet I'm only 20, and I never forget that but I cannot wait to get out. I miss my family I stay with and then I went back. I come back to Vietnam in the first part of February and then I think I came back to the United States in July [1974]. Yeah. I can hardly wait to get out there. It just changed.

In order to immigrate to the United States, her sister and U.S. Navy husband sponsored her to come. My great aunt explains how she felt homesick and that she went back even while the war was happening. Unfortunately, my great aunt did not really go into detail in how she was able to financially afford or figure out a way to go back to Vietnam. While interviewing my great aunt, this was the first time I ever heard of anyone going back to Vietnam during the war. Hence, my great aunt's journey of going back and forth to Vietnam confuses theories of linear migration (Zhou and Gatewood). While her journey is somewhat of a mystery, it displays the longing and love she has for Vietnam, not only as a place of war but also a place of joy.

My great aunt's quote displays that she not only has memories of Vietnam as a place of war and trauma but also a place of joy, friendship and care. Although war and trauma from U.S. imperialism were a prominent factor in shaping my family's lives, it did not stop them from finding spaces and places where they could continue engaging in practices of care and love. A

place can hold multiple truths and be a space of multiple memories (Rubio, Vo Dang). Thus, these stories of joy complicate the perceived landscape of war, making it also a place to dance, a place of friendship and a place of love. While many get to live out their youth and their 20s filled with a whole decade of friendship, love and dancing, my aunt's youth was cut short due to war. Thus, it is necessary to not only acknowledge how war takes lives, but also takes away parts of people's lives. Although my aunt booked a one-way ticket and thought she would never return to the United States when she did go back to Vietnam, she soon realized that it was not the same home that she left. Even if Vietnamese Americans were to return to their homes, due to the destruction of war and violence in Vietnam, she would never be able to return to the imagined home that she longed for and the specific time of prewar Vietnam. She was not able to practice the same acts of joy that seem so ordinary in life such as dancing at a friend's birthday party.

Not only does my aunt have longings and memories of joy from Vietnam, but my grandmother also shared with me her desire to go back to Vietnam. I asked her, "Did you like growing up in Vietnam?" and she replied quickly with "I love to go back; I want to go back." My grandmother doesn't answer the question if she liked growing up there but instead states that she wants to go back to Vietnam, as a future aspiration. While my grandmother does not directly answer the question, she frequently talks about her little sister's trips to Vietnam inspiring her to want to return. Rather than focusing on her experiences growing up in Vietnam, she may think about the possibilities of returning to what it was like prewar in Vietnam or the new possibilities of Vietnam now. When I visit my grandma, she frequently sits at her desk by her front door watching YouTube videos. Many of these YouTube videos are of women gardening in Vietnam or doing other mundane tasks. While my grandmother may not speak at length about her longing for Vietnam, YouTube allows her to transport herself there and engage in possibly creating new

types of memory surrounding Vietnam (Lam, Jack). My grandmother has not been back to Vietnam since she immigrated to the United States due to finances, ongoing health issues and her fear of planes but her younger sister goes more frequently, possibly due to her husband's wealth.

While my grandmother did not open up about many stories of growing up in Vietnam, she shared more about her youth when she referred to my grandfather. My grandfather arrived in Vietnam in 1968 as an air-conditioning mechanic. While in Vietnam, he frequented the bar where my grandmother was a bar hostess. After they met, they spent about a year living together in Vietnam, but before coming to Vietnam my grandfather traveled to many countries doing different contract jobs. Although my grandmother doesn't really share with me stories of when she was little in Vietnam, she shared how she had a crush on Elvis during her youth while in Vietnam, which drew her to my grandfather:

My Grandma: Yeah, but I go to marry with your grandpa. I go to Canada with him because he my husband because his job so I have to go with him but I have marriage paper but I know he's a playboy but you know he likes a lot of women but he loves me. He would wear clothes just like Elvis.

Myself: He looked like Elvis?

My Grandma: I love Elvis. Yeah, I do. I love Elvis. When I was in Vietnam. I love the picture. That's my dream I have picture of him, you don't know about Elvis.

Myself: I know, he's handsome.

My Grandma: He's handsome and his hair look like Grandpa. He wear clothes like him.

Myself: And he dances like him?

My Grandma: Yeah he dancing very good, he a good dance. Your grandpa that's it. So what you wanna know?

Although my great aunt and my grandmother's memories of joy are quite different, both of them speak to their love and memories of dancing. My grandmother's voice lights up thinking about

the memory of her Elvis poster in Vietnam and the memories she had together with my grandpa. When the first U.S. troops arrived in Vietnam, they also brought with them American food, culture and media. In 1965, when the first three hundred and fifty American soldiers arrived, Elvis's "Heartbreak Hotel" was the number one record (Chapple and Garofalo, James). The recent revamp of Elvis films in 2022 and 2023 shifts the focus away from the U.S. violence perpetrated during that year, the Vietnam War and the Civil Rights Movements, instead emphasizing a shared love of American rock and roll. This recent revamp is especially notable during the current revamp of civil unrest, demonstrated by movements like Black Lives Matters. My grandmother's obsession with Elvis displays the United States's soft power but also allowed her and me to create an intergenerational connection over a shared American icon.

PostMemories: Second-Generation Fragments

While my grandmother and my great aunt spoke about how war played a role in their daily lives in Vietnam, their daughters, my aunts, tried to piece together the stories that were told to them about the Vietnam War and our family histories. Espiritu's use of "postmemories" highlights the experiences of how second-generation Vietnamese Americans, children who were born in the United States and their parents born in Vietnam, have tried to piece together memories and the events of the Vietnam War (Espiritu 150). Using my grandmother's unfiltered speech and fragmented story-telling, my aunts and my mom have all tried to piece together my grandmother's life history. My aunt shared how she has a fragmented understanding of my grandmother framed by how she grew up in Vietnam:

Myself: When growing up, did grandma tell you a lot of stories about growing up about Vietnam at all?

My Aunt: My mom for whatever reason told me this story. They were very rich. And then when the war started, they had to go underground. She was told to go underground. And then her and her sisters, especially her, had to start working at strip clubs. And I don't want to say that some of them were hookers but from what I gathered from my mom, she may have been, just so that they could bring money back into the house. So that aspect when I first started, your grandma owns strip clubs.

This story is commonly told about my grandma intergenerationally. My grandmother's story of growing up rich is commonly emphasized to possibly emphasize how she faced great loss from the Vietnam War. My grandmother's emphasis on utilizing intimate labor to keep her family afloat may also emphasize to her daughters the neoliberal capitalist ideals of hard work and sacrifice. While my grandmother may have said she worked at a bar while in Vietnam, she may have not gone into detail with her daughters growing up, or they may have not felt that it was appropriate to ask about her role in the bars. Therefore, in order to fill in the gaps, my aunts may have made assumptions based upon narratives in cultural productions, historical context or other personal memories my grandmother has told them (Espiritu 142). Growing up my aunts would jokingly say goodbye with the phrase, "Me love you long time," unknowingly perpetuating the western orientalist visions of Vietnamese women. Thankfully, I didn't watch Stanley Kubrick's Full Metal Jacket while growing up, thus preventing what is now labeled the "hooker scene" on the internet to play a role in my memory or understanding of my grandmother. Although I didn't see it, the film came out in 1987 when my mom was five years old and her sisters were in middle school and high school. Therefore, it possibly played a role in their memory and consciousness, filling the gap in piecing together postmemories (Espiritu).

While one of my aunts had limited postmemories of my grandmother, my other aunt had a more detailed telling of my grandmother's background:

Myself: And what was it kind of like? Did grandma growing up share any stories about Vietnam with you?

My Aunt: Yeah, she would. So she would be very, grandma grew up very spoiled. Her dad was a general. And she had bodyguards everywhere where she went. And great grandpa was allowed to have as many wives as he could because he was a general in the Chinese French army in Vietnam. He was actually Chinese. Grandma's Vietnamese, so he had four wives. And great grandma was the youngest. So grandma had twenty-one brothers and sisters from four different wives. But only five of them are from grandma. From your great grandma.

Myself: I know someone told me that great grandma sold opium?

My Aunt: So she sold opium and did other things that she had to do.

While this story is less focused on the war as a whole, it encapsulates my aunt's own understanding of my family's history during the war. My aunt is able to detail my family's socioeconomic status in Vietnam, my great-grandfather's position in the army and the familial dynamics of my grandmother's family.

In order to understand how my aunt found out this family history, I asked:

Myself: And when grandma would tell you these stories would you sit you down? Or like how did she kind of communicate the stories to you?

My Aunt: Uhm would she communicate? Well, she went from being rich to like working in a bar. Like your grandma, my mom, went from being rich, did other nefarious things, and you have to remember, grandma owned a strip club, and she doesn't really sit down, and she's not a sit down and talk to you kind of person. It comes out when it comes out. It's when she's talking, stuff it just comes out.

My aunt who has a greater recollection of family histories is eight years older than my mother. Therefore, she predominantly grew up abroad, in Saudi Arabia and Jakarta, Indonesia, which may contribute to my grandmother's emotional availability to tell stories. In these spaces, my grandmother had domestic care workers and other people to free up her time from a multitude of emotional and labor responsibilities. Passing down memories and intergenerationally communicating can be extremely emotionally laborious. Therefore, it is necessary to ask, who is given the space, time and emotional availability to pass down memories to their children and

grandchildren? This further displays how the violence of war and imperialism not only cause silence but also impede on the possibilities of passing on familial life histories (Troeung).

My mother shared with me her little understanding of our family histories:

Myself: Did grandma share stories with you about Vietnam growing up?

My Mom: Not really. She just said like, you're lucky that I talked to you because Vietnamese parents aren't supposed to talk to their kids. Stories about Vietnam, no, because she was never home. Yeah, like I would only see her when I was little, my memories of her was like watching Asian movies with her. I didn't know what the heck was going on. I just like to pretend I knew what the monkeys were doing. She didn't really spend time with me. No Vietnam stories.

According to psychological studies, traumatized parents may have a decreased emotional availability (Buckley). The psychological study then goes into how this shapes the next generation's attachment styles. While understanding the shaping of one's attachment style is important, I would like to use this finding to think more about the violence of the U.S. empire and imperialism. Not only does war and the violence of imperialism cause traumatization to one generation, but it can also lead to the neglect of the next generation, furthering trauma for the next generations. The war lives on through these relationships and how mother-daughter bonding is taken away from both of them. Due to the current violent structures in the United States as well, my grandmother was unavailable to emotionally care for my mother, pass down family histories and allow her to gain an understanding of what it means to be Vietnamese. This lack of intergenerational communication not only leads to possible insecure attachment styles but also leads to my mom distancing herself from being Vietnamese and feeling Vietnamese. Thus, my mom did not seek out other Vietnamese community members, and since Vietnamese American history was not taught in schools, my mom's only understanding of being Vietnamese came from her mother, a person who did not have the emotional availability to provide a historical context

to her actions. This disconnect between generations then limits historical understandings that can propel change by being able to identify trends of structural violence caused by U.S. empire.

Instead, the trauma and neglect become isolating and personal since there are little tools for critical understanding.

Second-generation Vietnamese Americans come to understand the Vietnam War not only through their family members but also through interactions with others impacted by the narratives and memories of the war (Espiritu). All of my aunts shared with me the ways that their consciousness of the Vietnam War impacted their lives while growing up in the American South. They also shared how the emotional violence and racism for being Vietnamese American was solely experienced in the space of the United States:

Myself: What was it like growing up in Virginia?

My Eldest Aunt: Virginia, I guess it was alright. See, as a child I lived in different places, Nicaragua and stuff like that. There were still racial issues in Virginia I guess because the Vietnam War...so they were racist against Vietnamese. So I was kind of more of a loner until I moved overseas, and basically, kinda kept to myself kind of.

Myself: And when you're overseas, did you find it easier to make friends and stuff?

My Eldest Aunt: Oh, yeah. Because we had every race there at the overseas Oil Company.

My eldest aunt's account highlights how being Vietnamese American was particularly difficult in the United States, while she was able to make friends in the other countries she grew up in. In Saudi Arabia and Indonesia, my aunt lived and went to school in U.S. corporation "camp towns." The camp towns not only had Americans but also families from the country itself and people from all over the world. My aunt shared with me how some of her closest friends were from countries like Nigeria and Saudi Arabia. Since there are families from multiple racial contexts and all of the families have the same social class, there may have been less racial

othering, since the people who lived outside the camps were predominantly othered. For example, my aunt also shared with me how she wasn't allowed to play with kids outside of the camp, and how they predominantly stayed inside the American camp. My aunt described how she would sneak past the camp wall and hangout with "village kids," for whom she brought gum every week. She eventually got caught and was unable to hang out with them any longer. The differing racial dynamics and the lack of the emphasis on the Vietnam War within the context of the other countries may have allowed for my aunt to make more friends. Therefore, my aunt's experiences with more racial equality in other countries may be due to her class position in the American camp.

My other aunt also shared how she experienced similar racialization when she arrived in the United States:

Myself: Did you experience a lot of racism in Virginia, or did you feel like it didn't really affect you?

My Aunt: No, I did. I never really noticed any racism, actually, until I was older and came back to the United States. Yeah, I didn't, I didn't recognize that there wasn't anything. And of course, it's not that I didn't see color, because everybody sees color. It was that I didn't see people make fun of me or say things to me ever until I came back to the United States. When I was older, if they did when I was younger, I didn't catch it. You know? I don't feel like there was, there really was no, I don't think that people were outwardly racist towards us overseas. But yes, in America, when I came back, of course, the kids at school would judge me for being Asian and pretend that they had an accent, even though I had no accent whatsoever.

When they finally returned to the United States, the racial lumping my aunts experienced then made them sole products of the Vietnam War to their peers and a narrative so entrenched in social interactions that it affected the way that they were able to find community and networks of care (Espiritu 145, Joshi and Desai). My other aunt also shared how the racialized position played a role in her making friends once in the United States:

Myself: What was it like, like attending school?

My Aunt: You know, just being half Vietnamese after the Vietnam War. It's pretty hard anyways, does that make sense? Like the white people didn't want to hang out with Charlie [racial slur for Viet Cong]. And then the Vietnamese people didn't want to hang out with the half white people. That was a little rough.

My aunt expands on how being mixed-race during this time of memory and reckoning with the Vietnam War in the U.S. South led to her not being able to find community. Due to their position as mixed-race children, my aunts were ostracized from both white and Vietnamese communities, making it even harder for them to find a sense of belonging, care and alternate community (Bettez, Leonard, Tamai). It also makes it even harder for them to gain an understanding of what it means to be Vietnamese and the historical shaping of the Vietnam War outside of the context of their own family.

While there has been an absence of silence in my family and an openness when talking about trauma they have faced during war, rather than staying silent my grandmother has "lied" or created alternative stories when sharing about her experiences. My eldest aunt has a different father than my other three aunts. She was the only daughter born in Vietnam and throughout her childhood my grandmother, rather than being silent about her thoughts of her father, she instead created different stories every time my eldest aunt asked about him. In an interview in 2023, my eldest aunt shares about the multitude of stories she heard from my grandmother and tries to piece together my grandmother's past:

Myself: Grandma was looking for your dad?

My Eldest Aunt: So like I said, I had, you know, after a while, I'd never even bothered to listen to my mother. Because she always told me my father was dead. And she told me he didn't want me and then to find out he wasn't dead, she didn't know who my father was. So I stopped listening to her, if you know what I'm saying? You're telling me all these lies. So I just kind of stopped listening to her.

Myself: I guess, why do you think she would tell those lies?

My Eldest Aunt: Because her parents were very mad at her for being pregnant. And then she tried to have an abortion. She was 20, and plus when I came out I was light-skinned. So they already knew that it wasn't a Vietnamese guy, and she was dating some guy, and then she had a fling with my father. So her parents were really mad at her. At the time [1967] they had gone wild because it was after the communists had taken over. And I guess things were different.

My family's intergenerational communication, while not faced with many silences, still had many holes and gaps. While many second-generation Vietnamese Americans had to deal with holes in memories and piece together stories due to silences or forgetting, my grandmother, rather than not telling anything, chose to tell different things (Espiritu 147). Therefore, my grandmother's tactic of multiple narratives then can cause confusion, tensions and even further forgetting since there are too many narratives (Troeung). My eldest aunt was unsure of the exact history, timeline and "personal transgressions" that shaped my grandmother's life due to her saying many different things at different times (Espiritu 156). Throughout my oral history process with my aunts, when I asked them about what my grandmother told them, they also told me similar things in which my grandma would sometimes change the story each time or would tell alternative stories that are different from each other. My eldest aunt also highlights how my grandmother lied to her multiple times, causing her to no longer listen to her mother's stories or ask about them. My grandmother's lies of telling her that her father was dead or didn't want her, in a way, is an act of emotional violence. In order to protect herself from this emotional trauma, my aunt chose to stop listening to her, possibly missing out on other memories that were told to her. Although my eldest aunt states that she stopped listening to her mother, she shares an empathetic understanding of why my grandmother would lie to her about her father. My aunt saw my grandmother as a whole person who was facing parental pressures, war and other

obligations rather than just labeling her as a "liar." While lying may be seen as a violation of care, my eldest aunt in a way had an understanding of the reasons her mother may want to forget her father.

Forgetting is also a tactic used by one of my aunts to deal with the traumatic memories and experiences she faced while growing up. My aunt shared with me that she and her sisters try to forget, which has brought her sisters closer, has helped patch their relationships with their mother and has allowed them to create a positive narrative of their grandmother for the thirdgeneration. She empathetically stated, "You know, we don't think of the bad times and think of the good times and that makes us closer. You know, sometimes I just blacked out the bad times." Focusing on positive memories and the "good times," has allowed them to come together and care for each other. In a way, my aunt also points out her empathy and tries to remember the good times they had together rather than allowing someone's bad moments define her relationships. While it may seem as if forgetting causes one to ignore the violence caused by U.S. empire and current structures, it can also lead to possibilities of healing, care and understanding (Cai and Lee). One way my aunt uses forgetting to create relationships of care is by shaping positive narratives of her mother for her son: "Well I tell him the good memories of grandma because I didn't want him to hate grandma from the beginning. So I always tell him the good memories of grandma." In order to facilitate intergenerational communication and care between my grandma and her son, she has shaped a positive narrative that highlights the good memories of her mother. She hopes that by telling positive stories, her son will not have a sense of hate towards his grandmother, which could allow for a loving relationship. Although my aunt had a tumultuous relationship with her mother, she tries to provide futures for her son in which he can possibly have a loving relationship with his grandmother.

While my aunt created positive narratives to cultivate intergenerational relationships, my mother tried to seek out positive stories from her mother:

My Mom: My mom would just talk, I don't know what she would talk about, what would I talk about with her? Oh, she just said the same thing how guys, literally I've had the same conversation since I was little, she would be like, get guys for money, that's all she would talk about. Money is the only thing that matters, like love isn't love, guys are horrible, and she would say really horrible stories about my dad, literally would be the same conversation every time, still now. She just talks bad about people. She is just very negative, so I have to ask her, can you tell me something good, I'd have to coax it out of her, same thing with my dad.

Although my grandmother expressed negative stories and memories to my mother, my mom tried to prompt my grandmother to tell positive stories from her past. While my mom and my aunt have found ways to cope with stories of trauma and tried to find alternative stories of joy, in many ways the stories, while not silent or hidden, can still cause detrimental effects to the future generations.

Subsequent Memories: Third-Generation Understandings

While my mom and my aunts, the second-generation, have pieced together parts of my grandmother's life history, my cousin and I, the third-generation, have been trying to make further sense of the fragments. Since we are one generation removed from our grandmother, we are then able to see her in a wider and different lens than our parents. My cousin and I only saw our grandmother once or twice a year, thus many things we knew about her came from our moms or aunts. Therefore, we had more time and distance to process the stories of trauma we were told. While we had more time to process and mothers who guided us through the processing, it still played a role in our own mental health, understanding of the world and the way we come to understand our own lived traumas. My cousin and I discussed how the stories of trauma passed down affect our own lives:

Myself: I know we talked a little bit about mental health. But I guess our family is very open, right? I think of a big thing about Asian American studies like, oh, like there's silence, right, silence about stories and silence about emotions. Did you feel like that growing up about silence around mental health or like silence in general?

My Cousin: I feel like in a way, because like you said, we're very open. But it's almost like we would see, like grandma would say these traumatic things in a way that was like, ha ha, hee hee, it happened. Yeah. Like, it was not a serious conversation, like this is what happened to me and how it affected me. It was almost like she said, it like it is what it is, who cares? And same thing with like, our moms would tell stories. And they're like, Yeah, ha, that's just the way it is.

In this exchange, I explicitly ask my cousin about the trends I've seen in Asian American Studies about silence and feeling. My cousin also acknowledges the absence of silence in our family and my grandmother's rejection of sentimentality when telling stories of trauma. She also emphasizes how our mothers engage in the same practice of diminishing and normalizing their own traumatic experiences, similarly to our grandmother. My cousin continues to share how this practice of minimizing trauma has impacted the future generations:

My Cousin: When you're like, "You should probably talk through that." They're like, "What do you mean? Like, that's just how it just happens? Live on and go about your day." So it did feel weird to be like, those stories were awful. And of course, we had things that happened to us that in retrospect that was bad for us. But if they are having all of these even more, in our minds, terrible events, and they're just like living it out, why would I need to go get help or talk to somebody about this? So it was not like I was told that it was a bad thing to talk about it. It's just, you don't think you should because that becomes normalized. So I think it was helpful growing up in our generation that was really big on mental health. So that we're able to be like, okay, these are things that aren't normal and are okay to talk about. And you don't need to normalize things that aren't normal.

My cousin points out how trauma and violence have become so normalized in our family to cope with the consistency and frequency of experiences that they no longer hold importance. These horrific experiences then become mundane through repetition, leading one to question the necessity of problematizing them, further disguising the larger structural ongoing violence.

My cousin also acknowledges how our generation has had more understandings of mental health and she speaks more to the tools that our generation has today:

Myself: I think something that scares me is just kind of watching our moms and going through hard stuff later in life and seeing their minds get worse and worse.

My Cousin: I think it is letting things build up, and not realizing it. Because then you tell yourself like, "Oh, it's fine." And things aren't, things could be a lot worse. And they're a lot worse for other people. And I don't deserve to feel like, you know, these things are bad. And they like, let it build up and let it build up to the point where, like, they don't know how they just don't have the tools to handle it. So when it gets out of hand, they're like juggling it. So, and it is scary, like see it because, you know, you think like okay, I feel like that's not going to be me. But then of course, we've always had discussions where like, it is scary to be like, did we give ourselves the proper tools like break out of the mold of like, that way of thinking to where like things happen in the future, we can handle them, which I think I don't mean to like pat ourselves on the back, but I feel like we've done a good job. Yeah, hopefully. Hopefully, fingers crossed.

In her dialogue, my cousin shares the ways in which a sense of deserving plays a role in the ways in which one chooses to minimize their trauma and violent experiences. So frequently,

Vietnamese Americans are told that they should be grateful to be in the United States and to have been saved, and when they are not "saved" in the promised place of refuge, they then have to come to terms with the fact that the United States perpetuates further trauma and violence to maintain U.S. empire (V. Nguyen, Espiritu, L. Nguyen). Therefore, it can be easy to feel undeserving of the space for grief, sadness and processing since we may feel like our problems are smaller in comparison to the generations before us. While speaking with my cousin, I realized the validity of our feelings and the necessity to make space to process them. My cousin then contemplates possible futures and hopes. She shares how there is a possibility of breaking free from the cycles of trauma and violence with the current tools and support systems we have now created. Having the emotional space and safety to label and acknowledge these cycles has

allowed my cousin and I to create presents and futures where we are able to change not only for ourselves, but also for the first, second and hopefully for the generations in the future.

In order to have these futures of possible radical healing and breaking of historical trauma, it takes resources and community (Rubio, Cai and Lee). In the United States, neoliberal capitalist structures do not always allow for time, space and community creation, thus leading to continued cycles of trauma for future generations. In the next chapter, the thesis focuses on the possibilities of resistance and healing in a society that is predicated on the dehumanization of marginalized peoples (L. Nguyen). How are we supposed to worry about our mental health when we can barely figure out how to pay rent? How are we supposed to create collective action and revolutionize systems when we have to be the sole caretaker for family members? Although imperial violence has been a life-long factor in our lives, all of us have found ways to resist, create our own healing systems and alternative economies outside of the framework of the colonial forms of healing. I hope to look towards potential futures of not having to be unfeeling to survive the current world; instead, I envision a world that does not systemically take away our feelings, hopes, and dreams.



Fig. 2. My Grandmother's Collages and Constructions of Memory, 2023

Chapter 3: Bad(ass) Mothers and Re(sisters): Feminist Rage, Resistance and Intergenerational Love

"You should be lucky to be from here, don't you feel proud?", my grandmother proclaimed as she pointed at a pair of jean shorts that were covered in American flags. "You want to buy this? Show where you come from?" My twelve-year-old self shook my head no and I whispered, "No thank you, grandma," in reply. As we walked through Walmart, I thought about my grandmother's connection to the United States and the pride she wanted me to share. Even at twelve years old, being from the United States and seeing the American flag represented injustice, inequality and racism. In grade school, teachers always advocated for the power of nonviolence when discussing justice and resistance. Throughout my education, Martin Luther King Jr. was heroized for his nonviolent actions, while figures like Malcolm X and the Black Panthers were villainized for their tactics of resistance. Hence, I believed that nonviolence and fighting with kindness were the only "good ways" to fight injustice. However, sitting around the dinner table with my grandma, my great-aunts, my mom, my aunts, and my cousin, we all laughed in amusement as they told stories about fighting, violence and resistance, ending each one with an emphatic refrain: "We were bad." Growing up, the women in my family always proudly shared stories fueled by rage and anger, resisting the neoliberal "good refugee" narrative. I was often puzzled by their actions and questions whirled in my head. Why would they put their lives in danger? Why would they risk going to jail? Why were they so angry?

Resentment, rage and retaliation shape the stories and lives of my grandmother, mother, aunts and cousin. The storytelling around these seemingly negative affects display how experiences of violence and discrimination continue even when one is supposedly granted refuge in the United States (V. Nguyen). Vinh Nguyen's *Lived Refuge* describes the ways in which resentment manifests as outbursts of anger and sometimes violence, causing the criminalization

of refugees which then produces the label of "bad refugees" (V. Nguyen 53). As Nguyen explains, resentment is produced by the disillusionment of the neoliberal American dream, of continued violence even after promised refuge, and how the emotion can disrupt narratives of the Vietnam War being a project of liberation (V. Nguyen 60). Nguyen argues, "the wounds of war are not always healed through refuge. Moreover, in refuge, these wounds might be further aggravated, picked over and over again...(V. Nguyen 55)," thus displaying how the refuge that is promised after receiving citizenship and legal resettlement in the U.S. is not always sufficient in creating a livable life that goes beyond surviving. This chapter explores my grandmother's, my aunts' and my mom's stories of resentment, anger and retaliation in order to expose the racialized and gendered violence reproduced by U.S. empire even after receiving "refuge" in the United States. Thus, displaying how refugee afterlives and the subsequent generations are continually facing multiple reiterations and transformations of war that takes place not only in the imagined "war-torn" Vietnam but also in the supposed place of refuge, the United States.

Vinh Nguyen's chapter predominantly focuses on masculinized expressions of resentment and anger by exploring the narrative of a male gangster in Aimee Phan's *We Should Never Meet* and the story of four Vietnamese brothers who instigated the 1991 Sacramento Hostage Crisis. By exploring the stories of my female relatives, this chapter expands Nguyen's discussion on resentment by taking an intersectional approach, revealing and examining not only masculine expressions of resentment and violence, but also feminist outbursts of rage, violence and resentment. Anger in itself is a gendered affect that many times is available for men to express; meanwhile, when women express anger, they are demeaned, silenced or labeled as being too emotional (Wallaert). Although there is unequal access to anger, feminist anger has been a "powerful source of energy serving progress and change" (Lorde, Kay and Banet-Weiser

605). Black feminism has conceptualized the expression of anger as a necessary tool for survival that exposes the acts and systems of gendered racialized violence (Lorde, hooks, Kay and Banet-Weiser). The oral histories in this chapter deal with multiple stories of violence and anger, but when recounted, they are done so with humor, as a tool to deal with trauma (Panichelli-Batalla). The oral histories in this chapter use humor and tragic-comedy to deal with and expose the continued experiences of gendered and racialized violence (Cole).

When speaking with my mom and my aunts, many times we end a story about my grandmother stating humorously, "Grandma is small, but she is crazy," or "Grandma isn't afraid to do crazy things." The Combahee River Collective Statement articulates, "Black feminists often talk about their feelings of craziness before becoming conscious of the concepts of sexual politics, patriarchal rule, and most importantly, feminism, the political analysis and practice that we women use to struggle against our oppression" (CRC). Womxn of color are repeatedly labeled as crazy and my maternal family members have always expressed to me their feelings of craziness. These feelings of craziness and acts of craziness are materializations of the overlapping systems and politics of oppression. Unfortunately, due to a lack of access to Ethnic Studies and to critical consciousness, many womxn of color are then made to feel alone and isolated in their feelings of craziness, putting the blame on themselves. When womxn of color then act on those feelings, turning them into emotive actions in response to the violence they are facing, they are then also labeled as "crazy" and labeled as deviant. By exploring stories of when the women in my family resisted violence with feminist rage, this chapter reveals how they were met with carceral consequences and punishment, which has led to intergenerational tensions.

Vietnamese American authors continue to grapple with the impacts of war, violence and trauma on the nuclear family. Through cultural production and scholarship, second-generation

authors like Grace Cho, Ocean Vuong and Lan Duong have been grappling with their maternal and familial relationships exploring their intergenerational memories, trauma and ongoing violence caused by the Cold War, structures of whiteness and U.S. empire that continue after immigrating (L. Nguyen 10). All of the authors point to the many complexities of familial relationships and highlight the structural systemic violence that leads to dealing, coping and healing within their own families. Through this chapter, I plan to understand how my own family has been trying to find ways to heal and cope with not only the trauma caused by imperial violence but also the ongoing violence that continues once they are in the place of seeming "refuge," the United States (V. Nguyen).

In Vietnamese refugee studies, a main focus has been on intergenerational trauma and the harmful impact of silences. While these issues are important to acknowledge the lasting impacts of U.S. empire and have also shaped my family's lives, this chapter hopes to also center stories of joy, care and finding alternative types of healing to display the many ways that people continue to resist, even while living in systems that choose not to see them as fully human.

Centering stories of resistance and care is also important in challenging the idea that Vietnamese refugees are solely passive victims needing and obtaining help from the United States (Espiritu).

Drawing on bell hook's *All About Love*, this chapter ultimately argues for the shifting from an emphasis on intergenerational trauma to an emphasis on intergenerational love as an analytical tool, asserting that love is not only an interpersonal form of healing but also a political act of resistance.

"Bad" (ass) Grand/Mothers: Daily Resistance and Carceral Consequences

My grandmother, my mother and my aunts all have stories that display their own chosen form of resistance and resentment towards imperial racialized gendered violence. While these

stories elicit comedic affect, they also display the intersecting forms of violence that shape their everyday lives leading to each of them having to live in a continuous fight. All of my maternal family members shared stories about having to continuously fight for themselves and with themselves to maintain their sense of identity and being in a society that has rendered them inhuman. In this chapter, I explore how the seemingly mundane activities in the lives of three generations of Vietnamese American women have been shaped by structures of oppression and violence, making everyday a fight for survival. Linh Thuy Nguyen explains, "The ruptures between the United States and Vietnam are not only manifest in losses of context but also mundane moments that reveal the daily struggles of immigrants and refugees of color to exist as full people in a system predicated on denying their humanity" (L. Nguyen 96). Examining the violence they faced during mundane moments and activities reveals my family's justified resentment that many times led to retaliative violence. In consequence, my maternal family faced further violence in forms of incarceration and deviant labeling. Their stories then make known the continued racialized gendered violence that continues even after war and promised refuge in the United States, making their lives solely survivable rather than livable (V. Nguyen).

Being in a constant state of survival for multiple generations due to colonial and imperial violence has caused familial ruptures, mental health crises and carceral consequences. My aunt shared a story of the racialized aggression my grandmother faced while doing a mundane task such as grocery shopping:

My Aunt: Another time, we went into a store and this lady bumped into her with a grocery cart. My mom said, "You need to say sorry, lady." She said, "I'm not saying anything to you Charlie bitch" or something. And Grandma walked away, and I was like, Wow, that's pretty cool. She walked away and next thing you know she went to the end of the aisle. And you see this little 4'11 lady with the buggy just hauling ass down the aisle and bumped into that lady and knocked her down. She said, "I don't have to say sorry white b*tch." Grandma did not put up with much.

This story elicited laughter between my aunt and me, bonding us around a story of my grandmother's resistance. Although this story may seem just comedic, it also displays ways in which racialized violence pervaded their everyday lives. This story itself and how the story is told highlights the use of humor to cope, understand and reshape memories. Therefore, humor can be used as a tool to deal with trauma, allowing one to uncover systemic and structural violence that shape one's life through humorous storytelling (Panichelli-Batalla).

While my aunt's relationship with my grandmother is complicated by memories of abuse and trauma, humorous stories of my grandmother display a type of love my aunts have for my grandmother and my grandmother's love for them. One of my aunt's stories emphasizes the ways in which my grandmother showed her love through fighting for them. In a way, my aunts telling those stories is also an act of love for my grandmother. My aunt shared how she tried to tell good memories of her mother so that her son wouldn't hate his grandmother. She explained how she told a story of my grandmother standing up for her:

My Aunt: Well, I tell him like the good memories of grandma because I didn't want him to hate grandma from the beginning... One time she went to school and my teacher like left crescents in my wrist. I still have scars from them, she drew blood. And my mom went up to that school and proceeded to beat her a** in front of all the students for touching her daughter.

My aunt shared how my grandmother stood up for and beat her teacher up for putting hands on her, further sharing how my grandmother did not care about the possibilities of carceral consequences. My aunt further explained how her teacher held a grudge against her because her father was in the Vietnam War. This interaction of "racial lumping shape[s] young Vietnamese Americans' postmemory of the Vietnam War, instructing them that their place in the United States is intimately, and at times violently, related to Americans' racialized understanding of "Vietnam" and its people" (Espiritu 145). Therefore, this instance of racialized violence between

my aunt and her teacher displays the profound impact of the societal contention around the Vietnam War, not only inciting violence during war and trauma from war but also producing further violence in the United States for multiple generations.

Rather than fighting racialized violence by assimilating, my maternal family chose to physically fight back, leading to deviant labeling and criminalization (L. Nguyen 20). My aunt continued her story ending with the statement "...And she didn't care if she was getting arrested." My aunt explained that my grandmother faced consequences for sticking up for her:

Myself: And did grandma get in trouble or anything?

My Aunt: She got arrested in front of everybody in school.

Myself: Did she have to go to jail?

My Aunt: Yeah, grandma had to go to jail a couple times. Grandma got into lots of fights. Grandma went to jail. A couple of times.

One of the times my grandmother went to jail, my grandmother called the house phone and my mom who was eight years old picked up the phone. My grandmother told her to pick her up from jail. Since my mom was so little, she only had a bike and rode it many miles to pick up her mom. While trying to interpersonally resist and fight back, resistance has been met with carceral consequences.

Over the course of history, movements of resistance against racialized and gendered violence have been met with continued police violence, incarceration and deviant labeling. Vinh Nguyen explains, "refugee resentment is outlawed—criminalized and socially prohibited "(V. Nguyen 53). Immigrants of color are incarcerated for pushing back against the violence they experience that maintains systems of white heteropatriarchal supremacy. Through the criminalization of the racialized gendered subject, they then become the perpetrator of violence while white heteropatriarchal neoliberal capitalist systems of violence are then maintained. My

grandmother, my mother and I laughed together as she told another comedic story that revealed the racialized violence and carceral consequences she faced:

My Mom: How was it coming to America, were people mean to you?

My Grandma: The guy because I hit him, you remember when you were a kid? Because I drive and he try to hit me with a car, and I tell him stop and he don't stop, and he put the finger in me.

My Mom: Are you saying that you flipped him off?

My Grandma: Yeah, yeah he piss me off.

My Mom: And then we went to court and what did you do?

My Grandma: So, I told them what happened, and they said you not allowed to talk like that (in the court). I say because he call me a Chinese or a Vietnamese hooker so I say your mother hooker too, I yell at him. I talk to your grandmother and she hooker too. I say your family, all your family, your cousins. That funny you know what I mean? That's so funny. He says you're a bitch, I say your mother a bitch too. HAHA, so them say nothing so what he say? Don't call one-person honey, call all of them. Me, I know how to swear really good.

My grandmother highlights how the man called her a "Chinese or Vietnamese hooker" displaying that racialized gendered stereotypes that cause not only political and institutional violence but also interpersonal violence. These stereotypes of the Orientalized sex worker come from long histories of violent racialized political exclusion, portrayals of cultural productions and imperial violence in Southeast Asia. The recent Atlanta Spa Shooting, where a white male perpetrator killed six Asian American women spa workers because of reasons like not controlling his sexual impulses displays the ways in which these stereotypes not only stem from histories of violence but perpetuate even further violence. These violent occurrences do not happen in a vacuum but instead are an accumulation of orientalist misogynistic visions of Asian American women that are rooted in histories of colonialism, exploitation and imperialism (Choy 156). While my grandmother's interaction may not be as shockingly violent, it illustrates the

ongoing violence Asian American women face forcing them to normalize the situations. When Asian American women try to defend themselves against violence, they face even further interpersonal, familial and carceral consequences. Although my grandmother's response displays that she feels unapologetic about her actions, her justified rage was met with incarceration. My grandmother continued, telling us how the judge asked my grandmother to explain what happened in which she responded by displaying what happened. She started hitting and cursing at the attorney to answer the judge's vague question. My mother explained how she remembered vividly sitting in the courtroom as the judge called for order in the court as my grandmother explained her narrative. The disciplining of my grandmother's speech and actions in the court highlights the further state violence and trauma faced after enduring interpersonal racialized violence.

My grandma also shared a story where she responded violently to my grandpa's gendered violence and highlighted how she feels proud of her actions. In the U.S. narrative, Asian war brides are seen as the model mother and traditional wife (Saenz, Sean-Shong and Benigno). This narrative popularized in the United States also romanticized the Asian war bride as being subservient and in debt to their GI husbands for saving them from a war-torn country. Although this is the master narrative, my grandmother explained her response to my grandfather's gendered violence:

My Mom: If dad would say something mean what would you do?

My Grandma: I watch TV and he tell me to go up there and he drunk already, and he call me a whore or something. I tell him your mother fucking whore and I hit him in the head with a glass ashtray, so he had to get seven stitches. So, he scared of me, don't bother me no more.... See how mean I am. Crazy but he scared of me.

My grandmother's actions while extremely violent seem justified to her since it made my grandfather never verbally assault her again. Although violence does not justify violence, my

grandmother's actions highlight the approach she felt was necessary to ensure that she would not have to face further violence from my grandfather. My grandmother's story also complicates the master narrative of subservient images of Vietnamese refugee wifehood. My grandmother ends her story stating, "Crazy but he scared of me," displaying how extreme acts of "craziness" can be necessary to ensure a defense against escalating political and personal violence rooted in historical violent systems and structures, in hopes that these acts will allow for a future where the violence "don't bother me no more."

Re(Sisters): Generational Resistance

Discourse, discrimination and racialization did not end with my grandmother. Facing racialized gendered violence continued for my aunts and my mother in the United States. My aunts and my mom also told stories about their continuous struggle in daily life trying to deal with the systems, structures and individuals who perpetrated violence in their lives. Therefore, displaying the ways in which possibilities of a "better life" in the United States may not be possible for Vietnamese American women in the current landscape that has been built on racialized heteropatriarchal neoliberal values. My grandfather explained the racialized gendered violence that impacted his daughter's lives:

My Mom: How many times did you see us get into a fight because we were a mixed race and people were picking on us?

My Grandpa: Well, I think that happened often, but we always had a heavy bag at home, and I taught all the girls how to punch. I was proud of my daughter in the seventh grade in junior high. After class, they stood up and a boy behind her reached around and grabbed her tits from behind. And she turned around and she grilled him with a right cross. Knocked one of those teeth out and then they had to take the other one out, so he lost two teeth. His dad called me up and said, "What are you going to do about it?" And I said, "Well, I don't know. Maybe I should bring charges against his son for putting his hands on my daughter's tits." I said, "It's your fault. You should have taught him better." I said, "If I had done something like that my dad would have kicked my ass up between my shoulders and I would have been grounded till I was 18."

My grandfather's story highlights the gendered violence and assault that happens on a day-to-day violence that is usually justified by the phrase "boys will be boys." erin Khuê Ninh's chapter, "Without Enhancements" points out how her own lived experiences were informed by a continuous experience of sexual violence and coercion. Ninh, my aunts and many other women's life experiences are shaped by constant and compounding experiences of sexual violence that permeate their daily lives. Even in an activity like going to school, my aunt is continually met with gendered violence. My aunt explained how these instances of gendered assault continued in the seventh grade:

My Aunt: I think it was that was seventh grade. I would be sitting in class and the guy behind me always kept on, pinching my butt. You know, he'd mess up my chair. And he touched my butt. And so, I took my pencil and I turned around and I stabbed him in his leg. That's about it. But he did, like, you know, he bothered me a lot before that happened, so I just did that.

My maternal family's stories display the ways in which they are fighting against a society that continually denies their humanity (L. Nguyen). How are womxn of color supposed to move through the world in a way that centers joy, community, and love when one can barely survive the day? When womxn of color defend themselves and express rage, they are labeled as deviant and inhuman. My aunt emphasizes the continuous assault that led her to do the violent action. In a patriarchal violent world that continually violates you and denies your personhood starting from childhood, it is surprising that we continue to survive every day. While these situations are sexually violent, my aunts and my mom have all told me stories about the egregious sexual violence that defined their childhood and early adulthood in the United States and many of the other countries they lived in. While some feminist and oral history works incorporate the details of traumatic stories surrounding violence and sexual violence as necessary to seek justice and

acknowledge the traumatic violence, in this work, including the multiple accounts of sexual violence is not necessary to recognize the ways in which sexual violence has shaped our lives (Abrams 177). The re-telling and refiguring of these stories of trauma may possibly further traumatize my family and the reader. Although these stories are not written in detail, it is important to recognize the ways in which sexual violence has compounded in our lives, creating a constant fear of having to face sexual violence and the need to live in an everlasting fight or flight.

My mother explained how she also felt as if she had to continually fight her whole life due to being a Vietnamese American woman, leading her to be labeled as a "bad" kid, to be continually kicked out of school and being moved from place to place. My mom plainly stated, "I guess being over there (Virginia Beach) and people being racist...anytime when someone looked at me I felt like I had to fight." My mom grew up in the U.S. South and being mixed-race forced her to feel the need to constantly fight for her life and her existence. She emphasized how her childhood was shaped by the constant need to fight:

My Mom: In eighth grade, I got into a gang so I started fighting and I had a chip on my shoulder because everybody would look at me or I guess because I was Asian or whatever...Anyhow I got into a gang and my dad also left me for a whole summer, left me with \$1,000 and left for like two months. So, your aunt decided to take me to Texas to keep me out of trouble and then I moved to Texas and then I was good for like a year and then ended up being bad or skipping school again. So, then she shipped me to my mom's and then that's when I was in Norfolk and I got into a fight again at school so then from there I went to my dad's in California and then there it was like people were actually racist super racist in California...So I always been in fighting phase or you know sticking up for myself because people looked at me a certain way...

My mom describes the ways in which her racialization and the way that people looked at her made her feel like she always had to fight. Although looks may not seem like a justified reason to violently fight someone, the act of looking has been used as a racialized and gendered tactic of violence, intimidation and power (hooks). The "gaze" has been explored by feminist authors

positing the ways the gaze has been used to maintain power structures. A popular feminist rhetoric and framework is the "male gaze," where men use their gaze to objectify and sexualize women (Mulvey). The male gaze has been clearly identified in cultural productions where many films about women are constructed through the lens of the male gaze. hook's Black Looks: Race and Representation reflects on her own experience with being able to gaze and the ways that children of color are ordered to not look or gaze at people. The gaze is not only a form of gendered violence but is also historically rooted in racialized violence. In thinking about who has the right to look, hooks also points out how the gaze was used as a form of power by white male slave owners in stopping black slaves from being able to gaze back. Mirzeoff's *The Right to* Look: A Counterhistory of Visuality also identifies this racialized dynamic, arguing how constant looking has historically been an act of monitoring by pointing to the example of the white slave owners who always look at and surveil black slaves in a "plantation complex" (Mirzeoff). Mirzeoff describes the ways in which having the right to look expresses autonomy and personhood. Foucault's ideation of the panopticon in *Discipline and Punish* also politicizes looking and reveals how the act of looking is used for surveillance, allowing for further power and control. Therefore, interpersonal staring and looking can be used as an act of intimidation, control and a display of power. Staring and looking can also render someone inhuman, as an animal, an object, an alien that doesn't deserve privacy and autonomy.

My mom described how she no longer felt the need to fight once she was in a place that was more racially diverse, which mitigated the continuous staring:

My Mom: I feel like in the Bay Area, actually it was like going to that school I didn't have I think because it was so mixed-race and there's so many different Asian people that I didn't have to fight people, yeah I didn't really get into fights in the Bay Area.

My mom's feeling of not having to think and fight since there were people who were racially similar displays the ways in which place shapes a constant need to fight for life and livability. This highlights how having community and people from similar backgrounds around you can create space for yourself to feel and be safe. Thus, making it important to think about which spaces are made livable for people of color and how community can powerfully shape one's need to be in a mode of constant survival.

Creating Intergenerational Love and Healing

Experiencing and hearing the stories of resentment, resistance and rage that display the ways in which life is only made survivable for my family has made me question if healing is even possible in a place that continues to deny the humanity of BIPOC peoples. How is healing possible in a social world created by the continuous genocide of Indigenous peoples, the exploitation and incarceration of Black and Brown peoples, the continuation of war to maintain the stealing of capital and the maintenance of white supremacy continually reshaping itself in a post-colonial world? In order to continue living in a "system that is predicated on denying their humanity," my maternal family has learned how to find alternative forms of care and healing (L. Nguyen 96). Linh Thuy Nguyen argues that "reconciliation with family, speaking one's family story, and excavating family history do not result in transcendence or 'healing' (how one might heal from or transcend the conditions of neoliberal capitalism) but may instead point us to new ways to relate to ourselves, our families, and our communities" (L. Nguyen 15). Nguyen posits that there is no way to fully heal in a neoliberal capitalist society, thus displaying the deeply violent systems that lead to little possibilities of futures of healing for BIPOC communities. While Nguyen decenters the logic of healing, the quote ends with hopefulness and the possibilities of family histories to allow one to create new connections and relations.

My grandma and my great aunt described the ways in which neoliberal capitalist systems and individualism in the United States differed in comparison to Vietnam, hindering their ability to fully create community and create familial networks of care. When I was visiting my grandmother this past summer we went to my great grandmother's grave in the Virginia cemetery. My grandma shared with me how she went frequently to talk to her mom and fix her flowers. When we said bye to the grave, my grandma kissed her mom's photo and said, "Bye mommy, miss you." Afterwards, my grandma looked at me and stated, "If she was in Vietnam, the community would have helped, and she wouldn't have died." Tragically, my great grandmother died in a burning trailer in Virginia, a situation where she could have possibly survived if she had help and people she knew around her. My grandma's words highlighted the ways in which individualism and neoliberal values in the United States led to her mother's death, displaying a resentment towards these societal ideologies.

My great aunt also highlighted how she didn't really see her sisters due to the nuclear familial arrangement in the U.S. that differs from her experience of Vietnam:

Myself: What was it like growing up with sisters and siblings?

My Great Aunt: It nice but we not that close like in Vietnam. In Vietnam, I think everybody more closer; we see each other almost all the time. Here, everybody have their own job working and you talk to them but you only see them once in a while. It's not like back home... Everything here is different. You know, they all have their own family and they all work.

Myself: I know now you spend a lot more time with your sisters. But did you continue? Were you guys spending a lot of time together?

My Great Aunt: Actually no, a long time ago now when I was younger, I spend a lot of time with my sister. I do less now because they older. I like to see them, help them out. But it not much like when I was younger. I'd be honest with you...I mean I still see them once a week or some time once a month. That's not a lot but here that's a lot, that's good.

My great aunt explained how she felt like in Vietnam there is more of a collective community and more time that you spend with your family, which is not common in the United States. She points out the ways in which individualism and nuclear familial arrangements in the United States makes it more difficult to create frequent community with each other. She states at the end how seeing her sisters once a week or once a month is not a lot in comparison to how she grew up in Vietnam, but how compared to Western standards of seeing one's family infrequently, it is considered good enough. Although the societal ideologies around community and family differ in the United States compared to Vietnam, my great aunts and my grandma continue to resist the familial dynamic shifts by trying to be intentional about seeing each other and finding time to help each other out. While the current systems make living only survivable for my family, pointing out familial shared experiences through this project has allowed for an understanding of each other that is not usually made possible in the neoliberal capitalist systems.

Although the current violent systems and structures are irreversible, I still try to maintain hope that we can eventually have livable futures that go beyond surviving. I maintain hope that the United States will reckon with its past and ongoing genocide to achieve a world where BIPOC folks are no longer denied humanity and no longer have to fight to survive on a daily basis and can instead be in a place where coalition, solidarity and community continue to thrive. While scholarship predominantly focuses on coping and understanding intergenerational trauma, this chapter hopes to reveal and understand the ways in which intergenerational love is curated and constructed. bell hook's *All About Love* describes the current lovelessness that plagues the current nation and the ways that love has shaped her own lived experiences. By using bell hook's concept of love and lovelessness, this section focuses on how loving in itself is a political act of resistance, in a society that has traumatized women so much that you would think they would

need to be unfeeling and loveless to survive. In alignment with bell hooks, I argue that loving is even braver than to cause violence, because loving takes vulnerability and can be a political tool for survival. Intergenerational love has always been a continuous threat to (settler-) colonialism, imperialism, and neoliberal capitalism. By denying and stopping intergenerational love and solidarity through force, trauma, and policy, systems of oppression are then maintained and justified. In order to understand my family's intergenerational love, this section grapples with stories of care, healing and unconditional feminist love.

While I was visiting my family in Virginia this past summer, I was surprised to find out that my eldest aunt was taking my grandmother and her sisters out to lunch every week. She also explained to me how she went on bike rides with her aunt and their husbands at least once a week. As she told me stories about them laughing, picking fruit and getting drinks after their bike rides, I realized the ways in which they built a familial care network with each other, prompting me to ask my eldest aunt's motivations for this:

Myself: And I know now you've been like, biking more with your Aunt.

My Eldest Aunt: Yes. Now we're building that relationship.

Myself: How did that start?

My Eldest Aunt: Well, I started it actually, I always kept on trying to have a relationship and it became a blowout, actually with my mother. And then she changed her life around because she's had hardship also, from the past, which I guess is hard to let go of. So, we started accepting each other, how's that? I can't say anyone's at fault. I mean, I tried. And then when I started one day a week and I was like, you know, to make myself happy. So, I would get all of my aunts together and my mom. And we do one day a week if not more.

My eldest aunt explained the ways in which creating this network of care was incredibly challenging but ultimately she was able to make herself happy by creating that opportunity to see her family once a week. My eldest aunt clearly and empathetically states, "And then she changed

her life around because she's had hardship also, from the past, which I guess is hard to let go of," displaying the ways in which she is recognizing how violent systems and structures may have shaped her mother's actions thus leading to her acceptance of her mother. My eldest aunt not only brought her mom and aunts to lunch at the "Crazy Buffet" every week and went on bike rides, but they also created systems to bring each other to doctor's appointments and frequently brought homemade food to each other.

Although my eldest aunt explains her understanding of my grandmother, my other aunt explained more about the complexities of forgiveness:

My Aunt: Until now, I don't know just the last year she's, you know, been apologizing for being a bad mom. And I agree with her. Thank you for the apology, but you were a shit mom. So, I know I love her. And I still call her to talk to her...but I don't per se like, miss her around me...and I think the rest of your aunties are more forgiving than I am. For sure. Especially your eldest aunt, because I can't unsee the things that she went through with your grandma and grandpa. I know. In my heart, I would not be talking to them today.

My aunt contends with the ideas of forgiveness and love, thinking through the ways in which one can have love for someone but still not feel compelled to be around them. My aunt also emphasizes her non-forgiveness and the ways in which she cannot unsee what has been done to her and her sisters. Elizabeth Hanna Rubio's essay "Of Monsters and Mothers" grapples with the difficulties of having a mother who has experienced structural violence and war while also perpetuating violence against her growing up. Rubio argues for the necessity and ability to hold multiple truths and the ways in which anger for a person can still be possible even with an understanding of the systems and histories that shape one's life. Rubio explains the multiple complexities of anger and healing: "I can know that this is not just about you and me, I can work to lessen our collective suffering, to struggle against the violence that made us who we are, but I can still be really fucking mad. Understanding and accompaniment and healing do not preclude

rage. It does not bestow a facile forgiveness" (Rubio 130). This quote acknowledges how an understanding of the systems and structures in shaping the violence that one has experienced interpersonally does not always facilitate forgiveness nor does it eliminate anger (Rubio 130). In alignment with Rubio's essay, my aunt also continues to grapple with the complexities of understanding, compassion, and anger.

My aunt's statement also displays how caring and loving her sisters has complicated forgiving my grandma even more. My aunt not only recognizes the violence that my grandma did against her but also the violence she caused for her sisters. At the start of the dialogue, my aunt explains how my grandmother recently started apologizing for being a bad mom. For my grandma, the denial of motherly affects towards her daughters was in a way an act of resistance, since she may have felt forced to have children due to pressure of being a Vietnamese refugee war bride.

While my grandmother's way of resisting was abandoning her mothering duties, my aunts and my mom resisted in turn by being present mothers and using children as a healing source. My aunt shared how she didn't find healing through creating understanding between her mother and her, but instead in becoming a mother herself:

My Aunt: You know, I think the real healing process for me and your mom is through our children. I mean, taking care of you guys, I think, in some way has helped us. I don't know why I am sad, but it's true. For especially your mom and myself, without you guys, without somebody else to have to care for, I don't think we'd feel like we have a purpose. So, you guys help us heal. And then we try so much to not be like our mother. But I think in a lot of ways we are. And sometimes we have to step back.

Through this heartwarming quote, my aunt posits how having children gave herself and my mom purpose. She identified how having children in a way was a healing process that allowed them both space to care for someone else. While having children was healing, my aunt also postulated how it is a constant challenge and tension to try and not be like her own mother. Rubio's essay

also contends with anxieties of being a mother and not wanting to reproduce the same violence: "
And then there is my child. You have made my efforts to do better for him so damn exhausting.
But every time I take a deep breath before reacting, every time I choose compassion for myself so that I can choose compassion for him...I am suturing gaping intergenerational wounds"
(Rubio 132). Rubio brilliantly portrays the complexities of healing and grappling with the experience of parental violence while having a child herself. Throughout the essay, Rubio professes the anxieties of raising a child herself in the shadow of having a mother who has also been shaped by war and empire. This quote explains the ways that Rubio continues to heal intergenerational wounds through little acts of care for her child, revealing the healing in having a child but how it is also a constant daily struggle and commitment. My aunt continued to tell me how she and her youngest daughter are committed to improving communication to actively resist the unhealthy patterns inherited from my grandmother.

My mom also explained the ways in which having a child was a healing process:

Myself: Why did you want to have me?

My Mom: I didn't want to have a baby. I got pregnant and had to have you. But you were the best, like you calmed me down a lot, you're the best thing, because I'm telling you I fought like once a week or something and then when I had you I turned into a caring person and I actually had like emotions. I actually was nicer. I didn't fight all the time because I had someone to worry about, like I couldn't get in trouble. I just cared about being a good mom, because I was like, anyone can call me anything, but no one can say I'm a bad mom.

My mom had me when she was seventeen years old and a sophomore in high school. Growing up, my mom always asserted that she thought she would be dead by now if she didn't have me. She declared how life was so unlivable before having someone to care for that she believed she would have gone down a path of fighting that would have led to her death or that she would have eventually ended her own life. This story many times made me feel pressure to live up to

something to live for. How could I save my mom's life and how do I help my mom survive in a world that has continually failed her? Although hearing this story caused many anxieties in myself, hearing it growing up also saddened me and made me think about the ways in which her life was rendered unlivable by the structures, systems and people around her.

This story also made me think about my mom not only as a mother but also as a whole person. A healing process for myself has been trying to not only understand my parents and family members through their familial relation to myself but instead as whole people and picture the child they were before me. In this fragment of the interview, my mom also explained the ways in which having a child calmed her down, allowed her to access emotions and stopped the need to fight because she had someone else to care for. Thus, displaying the power of care and love in creating space to take someone out of a constant need to be in fight or flight, living a life of just surviving, and making life a little more livable. My mom also details how she cared about being a good mom and finding resistance through motherhood. Although my mother was constantly labeled a "bad kid" for having to constantly fight for life, she found resistance in aiming for the good mom label. In contrast with my grandmother's "bad mom" label, both my grandma and my mom found resistance through motherhood. Due to my grandmother's resentment of feeling forced to have to marry to survive war and to have children in order to prove her gratitude and fulfill patriarchal duties, my grandmother then resisted through the denial of motherhood. Being a teenage mother, the majority of people in my mom's life urged her not to have a child and insisted that she couldn't be a "good mom" due to her age. Therefore, although on the surface their paths diverged, my grandmother and my mother both found ways of resistance and power through motherhood in their own ways.

My aunts also described how they created bonds around motherhood:

My Aunt: When we had kids, your aunt, me and your mom got pregnant all at the same time. I got pregnant first, then your mom, and then your aunt. And our thing was that we weren't going to be like our parents. That was our goal. And that's pretty bad when your goal is how are you going to raise your kids and we all said, "Well, we're not going to be like our parents."

My aunt's statement displays the ways in which they resisted by choosing to be mothers and coming together to create a collective decision about parenting. After my aunt shared this, she shared more about how being mothers together made them all closer since they would call each other for advice, support and understanding. She shared how although many of her sisters had arguments and conflicts growing up, being pregnant together drew them together and allowed them to heal their sibling tensions. Many times, healing is thought of through the lens of mental health structures, but through oral history we can recognize other feminist forms of healing, coping and understanding.

Moreover, my aunt explained how she and her sisters created a game to heal through the humor:

My Aunt: Going back to the healing process, your mom, auntie and I, we all decided we were gonna play the game called "Guess What Mom Says," and the person who gets it right would take a shot. We put her on the other side of the table and we're gonna count to three and then you say something, and she would say it, and whoever got it right got to take a shot.

My aunt identified the creation of a drinking game around my grandma as a part of the healing process and the way that they cope with the trauma they faced involving their mom. Something as small as a drinking game may be thought of as silly or lighthearted, but in many ways it is an expression of care, love and solidarity amongst sisters. In a way the game also displays the ways in which they know my grandma deeply and have love for her, since they are able to predict her next phrase, meaning that they are constantly listening to her.

My aunt continued explaining and reassuring me that she loves her grandkids:

My Aunt: You look back, you can't change it, you wish you could do things different. Just so you know, you're very loved by your grandma. She just loves her grandkids. And I think even in the back of her mind, she still has a little bit of prejudice. She knows she's getting old and there's not much longer that she's gonna see you guys. Hopefully she takes advantage of the fact that she has grandkids....I mean, she told me she knows she was a bad mom. And I think that's why I think your mom worked so hard to get you where you are...

While my aunt recognizes the ways that my grandmother wasn't able to be a good mother, she also tries to emphasize how she is trying to be a good *grandmother*. Thus, showing how although motherly love may have not been possible due to my grandmother's historical and political circumstances being shaped by imperial violence, my grandma gets another chance at being loved and loving her grandkids. Ultimately showcasing, how motherly and grandmotherly loving and caring can be a form of feminist healing that can resist the current violent systems and structures. Thankfully, my grandmother, my mother and my aunt's resistance through love has been beneficial in getting the opportunity to experience unconditional intergenerational love and care.

Healing has not only been a process for the second-generation. Ss the third generation, my cousin and I speculated on the future:

Myself: I think something that scares me is just kind of watching our moms and going through hard stuff later in life...

My Cousin: I think it is letting things build up, and not realizing it. Because then you tell yourself like, "Oh, it's fine." And things aren't, things could be a lot worse. And they like, let it build up and let it build up to the point where, like, they don't know how they just don't have the tools to handle it. ... We've always had discussions where like, it is scary to be like, did we give ourselves the proper tools like break out of the mold of that way of thinking to where like things happen in the future, we can handle them, which I think, I don't mean to like pat ourselves on the back, but I feel like we've done a good job. Hopefully, fingers crossed.

My cousin highlights the ways in which we are constantly talking with each other about the future, about the tools to ensure our future, and ends her statement with appreciating ourselves

for the work we've done trying to find forms of healing in our lives. After this statement, we discussed the different tools that each generation had in allowing us to come to a critical understanding and consciousness that was not available to the generations before us. The advancement of technology and furthering of critical consciousness tools like social media, the de-stigmatization of mental health, and the expansion of Ethnic Studies has allowed us to be able to identify harmful narratives and label the structures that shape our lives. The expansion of these tools also allowed the space to talk about and identify shared stigmatized relational experiences that enabled us to realize that we are not alone in our experiences. In the virtual world, community is not limited to physical space and time, allowing one to then find even more alternative forms of healing and community that may not be available due to structural barriers. My cousin and my conversation also highlighted the care and intergenerational love we have for each other, for our mothers and for our grandmother.

Although I remain hopeful that feminist intergenerational love can be a powerful tool of healing, I also continue to grapple with the possibilities of fully healing from the past given ongoing (settler-) colonial, imperial and structural violence that makes living a form of surviving. I write this final chapter in anger of what my family has gone through and how the world around them has continued to fail them. This anger and feminist rage has taught me to be aware of the structures and systems that continue to shape my family's lives, in hopes that by pointing them out and actualizing them as a collective intergenerational experience, we can start to reimagine what a livable life could look like for womxn of color, for refugees of color, and for all marginalized peoples (Lorde).



Fig. 3. Intergenerational Love, 2024

Conclusion

This thesis centers my family's histories in order to reveal how war, imperialism and U.S. empire continue to perpetuate violence even after reaching a supposed place of refuge and gaining citizenship to the United States (V. Nguyen). The intergenerational stories highlight the enduring legacies of U.S. empire and military intervention that have been chronicled in Asian American studies and Critical Refugee Studies, especially at the nexus of labor and love that accounts for the outmigration of Asians to the United States (Choy, Espiritu). This thesis centers woman of color feminist and critical ethnic studies methodologies, frameworks and understandings to think critically about the structures and systems that have shaped the past, present and futures of my family's lives.

By conducting oral history interviews and engaging with critical autoethnography, the thesis challenges what is constituted as evidence in the academy, displaying the ways in which our lives have been continually shaped by structures of violence that uphold neoliberal capitalist idealizations of U.S. empire (Cho, Abrams). Through this thesis, I work through the interpersonal, gendered and racialized violence that my family has experienced to complicate the simplified dichotomies such as the good/bad refugee (Espiritu, L. Nguyen, V. Nguyen). Research in the academy predominately comes from Enlightenment ideals of objectivity, but this thesis emphasizes how research can be a political tool of resistance. While I do not wish to cause retraumatization for my family, I am hopeful that by having our own family archive of interviews, photos and written memories we can draw further connections and understandings of each other to cultivate additional intergenerational love.

This thesis engages with scholarship and frameworks on the Cold War, Critical Refugee Studies, memory, womxn of color feminism, sentimentality as well as critical mixed-race studies in order to recognize the narratives of three generations of Vietnamese American women. Currently, there is a gap in Cold War literature on the recorded histories of women who worked in hostess clubs during the Vietnam war, how they navigated these relationships and how they navigated motherhood during a time of extreme stigmatization in Vietnam and in the United States (Gustafsson, Collins). My thesis fills in these gaps and works through my grandmother, my aunts, and my mother's navigation of childhood, wifehood and motherhood to reveal the complexities of these positions and the ways in which they are shaped by a multitude of social factors and conceptions.

This thesis also adds to scholarship on intergenerational communication and memory since there is a gap in qualitative literature that inspects how intergenerational communication is conducted and how memory is passed down (Cai and Lee, Cho). Much of Asian American literature focuses on the violence of silence, while this thesis works through the absence of silence and reveals how unfiltered speech can also cause intergenerational violence, tensions and confusions (Espiritu, Dalgaard and Montgomery). There is also a gap in literature on the recorded histories of women who worked in hostess clubs during the war, how they navigated these relationships and how they navigated motherhood during a time of extreme stigmatization in Vietnam and in the United States (Gustafsson). My thesis is also in conversation with women of color feminism and Critical Refugee studies to reveal how feminist rage, resentment and love have shaped my family's histories. By exploring feminist affect, the thesis centers the importance of feeling and the ways in which feeling can be used as powerful tools of political resistance.

This research and work was written out of love and frustration for my family, in hope that one day our lives will go beyond surviving. Telling and writing down my family's stories are an

act of resistance, survival and resilience that could lead to futures of further intergenerational love for my family by revealing the power structures that currently do not allow us to live without resentment, anger and rage. In passionate fear and anger, I have written this thesis. I write it in fear that I will get the history wrong, in fear that I will not portray the memories correctly, and in fear that I will not be intelligent enough to make sense of the world I have been placed in. I write in anger that these stories have to be told, that my family's stories are filled with abundant instances of violence and that writing this thesis may not do anything for the futures of my family. Hopefully by sharing, acknowledging, and scrutinizing the systems and structures of violence that shape my family's stories, there could be a future where there will be an ending of continual war, violence and imperialism, in hopes that one day the world will allow us to live without fear and anger.

Bibliography

- Abrams, Lynn. "Heroes of Their Own Life Stories: Narrating the Female Self in the Feminist Age." *Cultural and Social History*, vol. 16, no. 2, Mar. 2019, pp. 205–24, https://doi.org/10.1080/14780038.2018.1551273.
- Bankston III, Carl L., and Min Zhou. "Involuntary Migration, Context of Reception, and Social Mobility: The Case of Vietnamese Refugee Resettlement in the United States." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 47, no. 21, Dec. 2021, pp. 4797–816. *Taylor and Francis+NEJM*, https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2020.1724411.
- Barth, Gunther. "Still the Golden Door: The Third World Comes to America. By David M. Reimers. (New York: Columbia University Press, 1985. Xix + 319 Pp. Chart, Tables, Notes, Bibliog- Raphy, and Index. \$25.00.)." *Journal of American History*, vol. 73, no. 1, June 1986, pp. 248–248, https://doi.org/10.2307/1903719.
- Bettez, Silvia Cristina. "Mixed-Race Women and Epistemologies of Belonging." *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies*, vol. 31, no. 1, 2010, pp. 142–65. *JSTOR*, https://doi.org/10.5250/fronjwomestud.31.1.142.
- Boerner, Michaela, et al. "The Association Between Sense of Humor and Trauma-Related Mental Health Outcomes: Two Exploratory Studies." *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, vol. 22, no. 5, July 2017, pp. 440–52. *DOI.org (Crossref)*, https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2017.1310504.
- Brents, Barbara G., and Crystal A. Jackson. "Gender, Emotional Labour and Interactive Body Work: Negotiating Flesh and Fantasy in Sex Workers' Labour Practices." *Body/Sex/Work*, edited by Carol Wolkowitz et al., Macmillan Education UK, 2013, pp. 77–92. *DOI.org* (*Crossref*), https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-02191-5_5.
- Bui, Long T. "Long T. Bui, Model Machines: A History of the Asian as Automaton. Temple University Press, 2022." *Model Machines: A History of the Asian as Automaton*, Jan. 2022. www.academia.edu,

 https://www.academia.edu/93797547/Long T Bui Model Machines A History of the Asian as Automaton Temple University Press 2022.
- Cai, Jieyi, and Richard M. Lee. "Intergenerational Communication about Historical Trauma in Asian American Families." *Adversity and Resilience Science*, vol. 3, no. 3, Sept. 2022, pp. 233–45, https://doi.org/10.1007/s42844-022-00064-y.
- Chapple, Steve, and Reebee Garofalo. *Rock "n" Roll Is Here to Pay: The History and Politics of the Music Industry*. Nelson-Hall, 1977.
- Charmaz, Kathy. *Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide through Qualitative Analysis*. Sage Publications, 2006. *Open WorldCat*, http://catdir.loc.gov/catdir/enhancements/fy0657/2005928035-t.html.

- Chea, Jolie. "Refugee Acts: Articulating Silences Through Critical Remembering and Re-Membering." *Amerasia Journal*, vol. 35, no. 1, Jan. 2009, pp. 20–43, https://doi.org/10.17953/amer.35.1.j212376451557747.
- Cho, Grace M. *Haunting the Korean Diaspora : Shame, Secrecy, and the Forgotten War.* University of Minnesota Press, 2008.
- Cho, Grace M. *Tastes Like War: A Memoir*. First Feminist Press edition., First Feminist Press ed., Feminist Press at the City University of New York, 2021.
- Choy, Catherine Ceniza. Asian American Histories of the United States / Catherine Ceniza Choy. Beacon Press, 2022.
- Cole, Tim. "(Re)Placing the Past: Spatial Strategies of Retelling Difficult Stories." *The Oral History Review*, vol. 42, no. 1, Apr. 2015, pp. 30–49, https://doi.org/10.1093/ohr/ohv003.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. "Shifting the Center:" *Maternal Theory*, edited by Andrea O'Reilly, Demeter Press, 2021, pp. 171–92, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1s2t0hn.16. JSTOR.
- Dalgaard, Nina Thorup, and Edith Montgomery. "Disclosure and Silencing: A Systematic Review of the Literature on Patterns of Trauma Communication in Refugee Families." *Transcultural Psychiatry*, vol. 52, no. 5, Oct. 2015, pp. 579–93, https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461514568442.
- Duong, Lan P. Nothing Follows: Poems / by Lan P. Duong. Texas Tech University Press, 2023.
- Espiritu, Yen Lê. 2005. "Thirty Years AfterWARd: The Endings That Are Not Over." *Amerasia Journal* 31 (2): xiii–xxiv. https://doi.org/10.17953/amer.31.2.v171j83814455118.
- Espiritu, Yên Lê. "Toward a Critical Refugee Study: The Vietnamese Refugee Subject in U.S. Scholarship." *Journal of Vietnamese Studies (Berkeley, Calif.)*, vol. 1, no. 1-2, 2006, pp. 410–33, https://doi.org/10.1525/vs.2006.1.1-2.410.
- Espiritu, Yen Le. "Art in the Lives of Immigrant Communities in the United States." *Art in the Lives of Immigrant Communities in the United States*, Rutgers University Press, 2010. www.degruyter.com, https://doi.org/10.36019/9780813550411.
- Espiritu, Yen Le. Body Counts: The Vietnam War and Militarized Refugees. 2014.
- Gandhi, Evyn Lê Espiritu. Archipelago of Resettlement: Vietnamese Refugee Settlers and Decolonization across Guam and Israel-Palestine. 2022.
- Garrick, Jacqueline. "The Humor of Trauma Survivors." *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, May 2006. world, *www.tandfonline.com*, https://doi.org/10.1300/J146v12n01_09.

- Goedde, Petra. 2012. "Military Romance: American Soldiers and Foreign War Brides in the Twentieth Century." *Diplomatic History* 36(1):209–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7709.2011.01015.x.
- Gustafsson, Mai Lan. "Freedom. Money. Fun. Love.': The Warlore of Vietnamese Bargirls." *The Oral History Review*, vol. 38, no. 2, 2011, pp. 308–30.
- Hallstein, Lynn O' Brien. "Detangling Wifehood and Motherhood." *Maternal Theory*, edited by Andrea O'Reilly, Demeter Press, 2021, pp. 555–70, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1s2t0hn.38. JSTOR.
- Han, Beenna. "Race, Gender, and Power in Asian American Interracial Marriages." *Social Science Research*, vol. 96, May 2021, p. 102542. *ScienceDirect*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2021.102542.
- Hartmann, William E., et al. "American Indian Historical Trauma: Anti-Colonial Prescriptions for Healing, Resilience, and Survivance." *The American Psychologist*, vol. 74, no. 1, Jan. 2019, pp. 6–19. *PubMed Central*, https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000326.
- Hoang, Nguyen Vu. "Trapped Within the White Frame: Vietnamese Americans in Post Katrina New Orleans". *Toward a Framework for Vietnamese American Studies: History, Community, and Memory.* Temple University Press, 2023.
- hooks, bell. *Black Looks: Race and Representation*. Second edition., Routledge, 2014. *search.library.ucla.edu*, https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315743226.
- hooks, bell. Killing Rage: Ending Racism. First edition., Henry Holt and Company, 1995.
- hooks, bell. All about Love: New Visions. / Bell Hooks. 2018.
- hooks, bell. "Revolutionary Parenting." *Maternal Theory*, edited by Andrea O'Reilly, Demeter Press, 2021, pp. 87–98, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1s2t0hn.9. JSTOR.
- Hunt, Nigel, and Sue McHale. "Memory and Meaning: Individual and Social Aspects of Memory Narratives." *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, vol. 13, no. 1, Dec. 2007, pp. 42–58. *Taylor and Francis+NEJM*, https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020701296851.
- Jack, Margaret (Margaret Cora). Media Ruins: Cambodian Postwar Media Reconstruction and the Geopolitics of Technology / Margaret Jack. The MIT Press, 2023.
- James, David. "The Vietnam War and American Music." *Social Text*, no. 23, 1989, pp. 122–43. *JSTOR*, https://doi.org/10.2307/466424.
- James, Joy. In Pursuit Of Revolutionary Love. Divided Publishing, 2022.

- Jeyasundaram, Janany, et al. "Experiences of Intergenerational Trauma in Second-Generation Refugees: Healing Through Occupation." *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, vol. 87, no. 5, Dec. 2020, pp. 412–22, https://doi.org/10.1177/0008417420968684.
- Kay, Jilly Boyce, and Sarah Banet-Weiser. "Feminist Anger and Feminist Respair." *Feminist Media Studies*, vol. 19, no. 4, 2019, pp. 603–09. *search.library.ucla.edu*, https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2019.1609231.
- Kim, Joo Ok. Warring Genealogies: Race, Kinship, and the Korean War. Temple University Press, 2022.
- Kim, Soon Nam. "Whose Voice Is It Anyway? Rethinking the Oral History Method in Accounting Research on Race, Ethnicity and Gender." *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, vol. 19, no. 8, Dec. 2008, pp. 1346–69. *ScienceDirect*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpa.2007.03.009.
- Kim, Soon Nam. "Whose Voice Is It Anyway? Rethinking the Oral History Method in Accounting Research on Race, Ethnicity and Gender." *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, vol. 19, no. 8, Dec. 2008, pp. 1346–69. *ScienceDirect*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpa.2007.03.009.
- Kim-Prieto, Chu, et al. "Legacies of War: Asian American Women and War Trauma." Women & Therapy, vol. 41, no. 3, 2018, pp. 203–218., https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2018.1425023.
- Kwon, Heonik. "Understanding the Postcolonial Cold War." *Routledge Handbook of Historical International Relations*, Routledge, 2021.
- Lam, Son Ca. "Bearing Witness: Using Video Ethnography to Map Embodied Geographies of Home." *Amerasia Journal*, vol. 47, no. 1, Jan. 2021, pp. 45–59. *Taylor and Francis+NEJM*, https://doi.org/10.1080/00447471.2021.1981195.
- Lane, Nikki. *The Black Queer Work of Ratchet: Race, Gender, Sexuality, and the (Anti)Politics of Respectability*. 1st ed., Springer International Publishing, 2019. *search.library.ucla.edu*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-23319-8.
- Lee, Amy, and Joseph Tse-Hei Lee. 2007. "Korean Military Brides in New York." Inter-Asia Cultural Studies 8(3):458–65. doi: 10.1080/14649370701393915.
- Leonard, Karen Isaksen. *Making Ethnic Choices: California's Punjabi Mexican Americans*. Temple University Press, 1992. *JSTOR*, https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt14bs6jd.
- Lessard M.R. 2002. Civilizing Women: French Colonial Perceptions of Vietnamese Womanhood and Motherhood. In: Hunt T.L., Lessard M.R. (eds) Women and the Colonial Gaze. Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230523418_13

- Lessard, M. 2018. Sex, Race Mixing, and Empire. *Journal of Women's History*, 30(4), 159-168. doi:http://dx.doi.org.ccl.idm.oclc.org/10.1353/jowh.2018.0046
- Leung, Patrick, Monit Cheung, and Ada Cheung. 2010. "Vietnamese Americans and Depression: A Health and Mental Health Concern." Social Work in Mental Health 8 (6): 526–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2010.485092.
- Logevall, Fredrik. 50 Years Later, the Legacy of the Paris Peace Accords Isn't One of Peace. https://ash.harvard.edu/50-years-later-legacy-paris-peace-accords-isn%E2%80%99t-one-peace. Accessed 4 Mar. 2023.
- Lorde, Audre. "The Uses of Anger." Women's Studies Quarterly, vol. 25, no. 1/2, 1997, pp. 278–85.
- Man, Simeon. Soldiering through Empire: Race and the Making of the Decolonizing Pacific. 2018.
- Martin, Rachel, and N. P. R. Staff. "Remembering The Doomed First Flight Of Operation Babylift." *NPR*, 26 Apr. 2015. *NPR*, https://www.npr.org/2015/04/26/402208267/remembering-the-doomed-first-flight-of-operation-babylift.
- Mirzoeff, Nicholas. *The Right to Look: A Counterhistory of Visuality*. Duke University Press, 2011.
- Mulvey, Laura. Visual and Other Pleasures / Laura Mulvey. Indiana University Press, 1989.
- Murphy-Shigematsu, Stephen. *When Half Is Whole: Multiethnic Asian American Identities*. Stanford University Press, 2012.
- Nguyen, Author Cindy. "Collecting through Absence: Fragmenting Vietnamese Refugee Archives by Cindy Anh Nguyen [New Publication]." *Cindy A. Nguyen*, 21 Nov. 2023, https://cindyanguyen.com/2023/11/20/collecting-through-absence-fragmenting-vietnamese-refugee-archives-by-cindy-anh-nguyen-new-publication/.
- Nguyen, Linh Thuy. *Displacing Kinship: The Intimacies of Intergenerational Trauma in Vietnamese American Cultural Production*. 1st ed., Temple University Press, 2024.
- Nguyen, Nathalie Huynh Chau. "Memory and Silence in the Vietnamese Diaspora: The Narratives of Two Sisters." *Oral History*, vol. 36, no. 2, 2008, pp. 64–74. JSTOR.
- Nguyen, Vinh. Lived Refuge: Gratitude, Resentment, Resilience. 2023.
- Ngyuen, Y Thien. "Legacies and Diasporic Connectivity: Dialogues and Future Directions of Vietnamese and Vietnamese American Studies". *Toward a Framework for Vietnamese American Studies: History, Community, and Memory*. Temple University Press, 2023.

- Ocean. *A Letter to My Mother That She Will Never Read | The New Yorker*. <u>https://www.newyorker.com/culture/personal-history/a-letter-to-my-mother-that-she-will-never-read</u>. Accessed 4 Mar. 2023.
- O'Reilly, Andrea. "Empowered and Feminist Mothering." *Maternal Theory*, edited by Andrea O'Reilly, Demeter Press, 2021, pp. 623–44, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1s2t0hn.43. JSTOR.
- Palko, Abigail L. "Monstrous Mothers." *Maternal Theory*, edited by Andrea O'Reilly, Demeter Press, 2021, pp. 595–608, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1s2t0hn.41. JSTOR.
- Panichelli-Batalla, Stephanie. "Laughter in Oral Histories of Displacement: 'One Goes on a Mission to Solve Their Problems.'" *The Oral History Review*, vol. 47, no. 1, Jan. 2020, pp. 73–92. *Taylor and Francis+NEJM*, https://doi.org/10.1080/00940798.2020.1723425.
- Parreñas, Rhacel, and Rhacel Parreñas. *Servants of Globalization: Migration and Domestic Work, Second Edition.* Stanford University Press, 2015. *ProQuest Ebook Central*, http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ucla/detail.action?docID=3568959.
- Peché, Linda Ho, et al. *Toward a Framework for Vietnamese American Studies: History, Community, and Memory.* Temple University Press, 2023.
- Powers, Abigail, et al. "Associations Between Childhood Abuse, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, and Implicit Emotion Regulation Deficits: Evidence From a Low-Income Inner City Population." *Psychiatry*, vol. 78, no. 3, 2015, pp. 251–64. *PubMed Central*, https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.2015.1069656.
- Phan, Aimee. We Should Never Meet: Stories. Macmillan, 2004.
- Phu, Thy. Warring Visions: Photography and Vietnam. Duke University Press, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1515/9781478012917.
- Root, Maria P. P. Racially Mixed People in America. Sage Publications, 1992.
- Rubio, Elizabeth Hanna. "Of Mothers and Monsters: Transformative Justice and the Politics of Intergenerational Healing." *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies*, vol. 44, no. 3, 2023, pp. 117–36.
- Sachs, Dana. The Life We Were Given: Operation Babylift, International Adoption, and the Children of War in Vietnam. Beacon Press, 2010.
- Saenz, Rogelio, Sean-Shong Hwang, and Benigno E. Aguirre. 1994. "In Search of Asian War Brides." Demography 31(3):549–59. doi: 10.2307/2061757.

- Seidman, Irving. *Interviewing As Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in Education and the Social Sciences*. 4th ed., 4th ed., Teachers College Press, 2013.
- Taas, Adrian G. *Engineers at War*.

 https://catalog.library.vanderbilt.edu/discovery/fulldisplay/alma991036362379703276/01
 VAN_INST:vanui. Accessed 26 Mar. 2024.
- Tamai, Lily Anne Welty, et al. "Mixed Race Asian American Identity on Display." *Amerasia Journal*, vol. 43, no. 2, Jan. 2017, pp. 176–91. *DOI.org (Crossref)*, https://doi.org/10.17953/aj.43.2.176-191.
- The Combahee River. "The Combahee River Collective Statement." *Library of Congress, Washington, D.C. 20540 USA*, https://www.loc.gov/item/lcwaN0028151/. Accessed 30 Apr. 2024.
- Tilley-Lubbs, Gresilda A., and Silvia Bénard Calva. *Re-Telling Our Stories: Critical Autoethnographic Narratives*. Brill, 2016, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6300-567-8.
- Tran, E. M. "Miss Saigon". *Prairie Schooner*, Spring 2017.
- Tran, Quan Tue. "Remembering War and Migration: Mapping the Contours of Diasporic Vietnamese Memoryscapes". *Toward a Framework for Vietnamese American Studies: History, Community, and Memory*. Temple University Press, 2023.
- Troeung, Y.-Dang. Refugee Lifeworlds: The Afterlife of the Cold War in Cambodia / Y-Dang Troeung. Temple University Press, 2022.
- Tuck, Eve, and K. Wayne Yang. "Decolonization Is Not a Metaphor." *Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society*, vol. 1, no. 1, 1, Sept. 2012. *jps.library.utoronto.ca*, https://jps.library.utoronto.ca/index.php/des/article/view/18630.
- Tu, Thuy Linh Nguyen. *Experiments in Skin: Race and Beauty in the Shadows of Vietnam*. Duke University Press, 2021. *JSTOR*, https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1gm03nm.
- Vo, Linda Trinh. *Viet Stories Viet Stories: Vietnamese American Oral History Project at UC Irvine*. 2018. https://sites.uci.edu/vaohp/. Accessed 13 June 2023.
- Wallaert, Sigrid. "Reading Rage: Theorising the Epistemic Value of Feminist Anger (1st Edition)." *DiGeSt*, vol. 10, no. 1, 2023, pp. 53–67.
- Woo, Susie, and ProQuest (Firm). Framed by War: Korean Children and Women at the Crossroads of U.S. Empire. New York University Press, 2019.
- Wood, Joseph. "Vietnamese American Place Making in Northern Virginia." *Geographical Review* 87.1 (1997): 58-72.

- Yarborough, Trin. Surviving Twice: Amerasian Children of the Vietnam War. 1st ed., 1st ed., Potomac Books, 2005.
- Yao, Xine. *Disaffected: The Cultural Politics of Unfeeling in Nineteenth-Century America*. Duke University Press, 2021. *search.library.ucla.edu*, https://doi.org/10.1215/9781478022107.
- Yoon, Chung Ro. Politics of Memory and Commemoration of the Vietnam War in Korea. Center for Social Sciences, Seoul National University, 2013.
- Zhou, Min, and Carl L. Bankston. "Social Capital and the Adaptation of the Second Generation: The Case of Vietnamese Youth in New Orleans." *The International Migration Review*, vol. 28, no. 4, 1994, pp. 821–45. *JSTOR*, https://doi.org/10.2307/2547159. Accessed 14 June 2023.
- Zhou, Min, and J. V. Gatewood. *Contemporary Asian America (Second Edition): A Multidisciplinary Reader*. NYU Press, 2007.
- Zeiger, Susan. 2010. Entangling Alliances: Foreign War Brides and American Soldiers in the Twentieth Century. New York University Press.